# Effect of Green Manures and Organic Amendments On Verticillium Wilt of Potato in Manitoba

by

## Oscar Ivan Molina Tirado

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of

The University of Manitoba

in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of

## **Master of Science**

Department of Soil Science

University of Manitoba

Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada

Copyright © 2009 by Oscar Ivan Molina Tirado

## THE UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES \*\*\*\*\* COPYRIGHT PERMISSION

# Effect of Green Manures and Organic Amendments On Verticillium Wilt of Potato in Manitoba

By

## **Oscar Ivan Molina Tirado**

A Thesis/Practicum submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of The University of

Manitoba in partial fulfillment of the requirement of the degree

Of

## **Master of Science**

#### Oscar Ivan Molina Tirado©2009

Permission has been granted to the University of Manitoba Libraries to lend a copy of this thesis/practicum, to Library and Archives Canada (LAC) to lend a copy of this thesis/practicum, and to LAC's agent (UMI/ProQuest) to microfilm, sell copies and to publish an abstract of this thesis/practicum.

This reproduction or copy of this thesis has been made available by authority of the copyright owner solely for the purpose of private study and research, and may only be reproduced and copied as permitted by copyright laws or with express written authorization from the copyright owner.

#### ABSTRACT

Molina, Oscar Ivan. M.Sc., The University of Manitoba, December 2009. <u>Effect of Green</u> <u>Manures and Organic Amendments on Verticillium wilt of Potato in Manitoba.</u> Major Professor; Mario Tenuta.

Verticillium dahliae Kleb. is a soil-borne fungal pathogen of several crops and is broadly distributed worldwide. It is a very persistent soil-borne fungus in potato (Solanum Tuberosum L.) and responsible for the Verticillium wilt of potato. In Manitoba, potato fields planted with cv Russet Burbank have been found to be infested with highly pathogenic V. dahliae isolates, which can produce disease severity of up to 90% and reduce yield. Potato producers have then an increased interest on use of green manures and organic amendments to control Verticillium wilt. The objectives of this research were to evaluate selected green manure and organic amendments for their ability to reduce propagule density of V. dahliae in soil, incidence and severity of Verticillium wilt, and to enhance potato yield in Manitoba. In addition, a second study was conducted for the purpose of studying the potential of mustard green manure and seed meal at lower application rates than those previously recommended to inhibit the germination of microsclerotia. Our results for the first study showed that compost and seed-meal treatment reduced disease incidence to 30 and 40 % (P < 0.001), but only seed meal reduced propagule density. Potato marketable yield increased only with application of compost. Overall, 1- or 2-years green manures were ineffective reducing propagule density or improving potato yield. Application of Vapam was partially effective reducing the propagule density only at the beginning of the potato season, but it did not reduce

disease incidence compared to control. Our results for the second study showed that 2propenyl isothiocyanate (2-propenyl-ITC) was the only ITC present in amended soil with higher concentration in seed meal amendment. The germination of microsclerotia was mainly inhibited by 0.5 and 0.25% mustard seed meal treatments at four-day measurement. However, the effect of concentration of 2-propenyl-ITC at 22 nM g<sup>-1</sup> seems to be fungistatic, as germination of microsclerotia rebounded once the concentration of ITC dissipated. The results of this study suggest that the inhibition of germination of microsclerotia by oriental mustard plant tissue or seed meal is affected by soil with pH higher than 6.5, where the concentration of 2-propenyl-ITC is lower and dissipates rapidly. Findings from the current research suggest that one or two year of green manure does not appear to be an effective management tool for Verticillium wilt of potato in Manitoba. Composted beef cattle manure and oriental mustard seed meal amendments have promise as an alternative strategy for the control of V. dahliae. However, in terms of effective field implementation, higher concentration and residence time of 2-propenyl-ITC will be needed to have a fungitoxic effect on V. dahliae microsclerotia with mustard seed meal. Finally, only composted beef cattle manure reduced disease, increased potato vield and improved nutrient availability (P) in soil.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Fortunately it has been a journey that has challenged and stimulated me. Firstly I sincerely thank my advisor Dr. Mario Tenuta for his advice, guidance and the tremendous encouragement, particularly when I was conducting experiments and on many other occasions. Thank you to my co-supervisor Dr. Fouad Daayf and the members of my committee, Dr. Don Flaten and Dr. Muhammad Tahir for all their advice.

I would like to thank the Canada-Manitoba Crop Diversification Centre (CMCDC) in Carberry and its staff for all their support and hard work associated with this project. I would like to acknowledge those anonymous potato farmers for their support and for allowing many researchers, including myself, to work with them and have easy access to their farms. Special thanks to those working at the SOIL ECOLOGY LAB, Brad Sparling, Mervin Bilous and students-friends for all their support and hard work associated with this project. Furthermore, thanks to the technicians and support staff in the Department of Soil Science for all their help over the past two and half years. Special thanks to Rob Ellis. Also thanks to Lorne Adam and Maria Antonia Henriquez from the Dr. Daayf's Lab, for their sincere support and work in the laboratory. Enormous thanks to everyone who volunteered to work in the field with me. Without all of you and the hard, long extra work hours put in this project would have been impossible. By the way, I apologize for the extra hours and the bad coffee we got sometimes!

Thanks to all those organizations such as Keystone Potato Producers Association, McCain's Food, SimPlot, Agri-Food Research and Development Initiative (ARDI), Agriculture and Agri-food Canada (AAFC) Brandon and Mustard Capital for their funding and support throughout the three years of this project.

- 14

For their love and encouragement all my life I express my deepest gratitude to my parents Angel and Adela, and my brother Kevin, without your help, motivation through hard times, guidance, and your love I wouldn't be where I am today.

Finally, and most importantly, thank you to my wife Maria Antonia for putting up with me during this time. I couldn't have done it without you!

v

#### FOREWORD

This thesis has been prepared in manuscript format following the guidelines established by the Department of Soil Science at the University of Manitoba. The reference style used in this document is from the Plant Disease journal. Chapters 2, and 3 may be submitted to a peer-reviewed journal, to be decided in the future. For all papers, I will be the lead author and co-authorship will be decided accordingly.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.3.5.2. Soil Chemical Properties	36
2.3.5.3. Potato Yield and Quality	36
2.3.6. Statistical Analysis	37
2.4. Results	38
2.4.1. Experiment 1	38
2.4.1.1. Survival of V. dahliae Microsclerotia	38
2.4.1.2. V. dahliae Propagule Density in Soil	40
2.4.1.3. Disease Incidence and Severity	42
2.4.1.4. Plant and Soil Assessment	43
2.4.1.4.1. Effects on Soil Properties	43
2.4.1.4.2. Marketable Yield and Tuber Quality	45
2.4.2. Experiment 2	47
2.4.2.1. Effect on Propagule Density and Verticillium Wilt Incidence	47
2.4.2.2. Effect on Potato Marketable Yield and Tuber Quality	48
2.5. Discussion	49
2.5.1. Survival of V. dahliae Microsclerotia.	50
2.5.2. Reduction of Propagule Density and Verticillium Wilt	53
2.5.3. Effect on Soil Properties and Potato Marketable Yield.	58
2.6. Conclusions.	61
2.7. Literature Cited	62
AMENDED WITH ORIENTAL MOSTARD HISSOE AND SEED MEAL	
3.1. Abstract	70
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li></ul>	70 71
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li></ul>	70 71 74 74
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li></ul>	70 71 74 74 74
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li></ul>	70 71 74 74 74 75 75
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li></ul>	70 71 74 74 75 75 76
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li> <li>3.2. Introduction</li> <li>3.3. Materials and Methods</li> <li>3.3.1. Plant Material for Amemendments</li> <li>3.3.2. V. dahliae Inoculum Preparation</li> <li>3.3.3. Microcosm Soil Preparation</li> <li>3.3.4. Experimental Setup</li> <li>3.3.5 V. dahliae Microsclerotia Analysis</li> </ul>	70 71 74 74 75 75 76 77
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li></ul>	70 71 74 75 75 76 77 78
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li> <li>3.2. Introduction</li> <li>3.3. Materials and Methods</li> <li>3.3.1. Plant Material for Amemendments</li> <li>3.3.2. <i>V. dahliae</i> Inoculum Preparation</li> <li>3.3.3. Microcosm Soil Preparation</li> <li>3.3.4. Experimental Setup</li> <li>3.3.5. <i>V. dahliae</i> Microsclerotia Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6. Soil Chemical Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1. Soil ITC Analysis</li> </ul>	70 71 74 75 75 76 77 78 78 78
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li> <li>3.2. Introduction</li> <li>3.3. Materials and Methods</li> <li>3.3.1. Plant Material for Amemendments</li> <li>3.3.2. V. dahliae Inoculum Preparation</li> <li>3.3.3. Microcosm Soil Preparation</li> <li>3.3.4. Experimental Setup</li> <li>3.3.5. V. dahliae Microsclerotia Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6. Soil Chemical Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1. Soil ITC Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1.1. Soil Extraction</li> </ul>	70 71 74 75 75 75 76 77 78 78 78
<ul> <li>AMENDED WITH ORIENTAL MOSTARD TISSOE AND SEED MEAL</li> <li>3.1. Abstract</li> <li>3.2. Introduction</li> <li>3.3. Materials and Methods</li> <li>3.3.1. Plant Material for Amemendments</li> <li>3.3.2. V. dahliae Inoculum Preparation</li> <li>3.3.3. Microcosm Soil Preparation</li> <li>3.3.4. Experimental Setup</li> <li>3.3.5. V. dahliae Microsclerotia Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6. Soil Chemical Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1. Soil ITC Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1.2. ITC Analysis</li> </ul>	70 71 74 75 75 76 77 78 78 78 78
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li></ul>	70 71 74 74 75 75 76 77 78 78 78 78 78 78 78
<ul> <li>AMENDED WITH ORIENTAL WOSTARD TISSOL AND SEED MEAL</li> <li>3.1. Abstract</li> <li>3.2. Introduction</li> <li>3.3.1. Plant Material for Amemendments</li> <li>3.3.2. V. dahliae Inoculum Preparation</li> <li>3.3.3. Microcosm Soil Preparation</li> <li>3.3.4. Experimental Setup</li> <li>3.3.5. V. dahliae Microsclerotia Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6. Soil Chemical Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1. Soil ITC Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1.1. Soil Extraction</li> <li>3.3.6.2. Ammonia, Nitrous Acid and pH Determinations</li> <li>3.3.7. Statistical Analysis</li> </ul>	70 71 74 75 75 75 76 77 78 78 78 78 78 78 79 80
<ul> <li>AMENDED WITH OKTENTAL MOSTAKE TISSOE AND SEED MEAD</li> <li>3.1. Abstract</li> <li>3.2. Introduction</li> <li>3.3.1. Plant Material for Amemendments</li> <li>3.3.2. V. dahliae Inoculum Preparation</li> <li>3.3.3. Microcosm Soil Preparation</li> <li>3.3.4. Experimental Setup</li> <li>3.3.5. V. dahliae Microsclerotia Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1 Soil Chemical Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1.1 Soil Extraction</li> <li>3.3.6.1.2. ITC Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.2. Ammonia, Nitrous Acid and pH Determinations</li> <li>3.4. Results</li> </ul>	70 71 74 74 75 75 76 77 78 78 78 78 79 80 81
<ul> <li>A.MERDED WITH ORIENTAL MOSTARD TISSUE AND SEED WEAL</li> <li>3.1. Abstract</li> <li>3.2. Introduction</li> <li>3.3. Materials and Methods</li> <li>3.3.1. Plant Material for Amemendments</li> <li>3.3.2. V. dahliae Inoculum Preparation</li> <li>3.3.3. Microcosm Soil Preparation</li> <li>3.3.4. Experimental Setup</li> <li>3.3.5. V. dahliae Microsclerotia Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1 Soil Chemical Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1. Soil ITC Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1.2. ITC Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.2. Ammonia, Nitrous Acid and pH Determinations</li> <li>3.3.7. Statistical Analysis</li> <li>3.4. Results</li> <li>3.4.1. Effect of Mustard Tissues and Seed Meal on Survival of Microsclerotia</li> </ul>	70 71 74 74 75 75 76 76 77 78 78 78 78 78 78 79 81
<ul> <li>AMERDED WITH ORIENTAE MOSTARD TISSUE AND SEED MEAD</li> <li>3.1. Abstract</li></ul>	70 71 74 75 75 75 76 77 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 79 80 81 81 85
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li> <li>3.2. Introduction</li> <li>3.3. Materials and Methods</li> <li>3.3.1. Plant Material for Amemendments</li> <li>3.3.2. V. dahliae Inoculum Preparation</li> <li>3.3.3. Microcosm Soil Preparation</li> <li>3.3.4. Experimental Setup</li> <li>3.3.5. V. dahliae Microsclerotia Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1. Soil Chemical Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1.1. Soil Extraction</li> <li>3.3.6.1.2. ITC Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.2. Ammonia, Nitrous Acid and pH Determinations</li> <li>3.3.7. Statistical Analysis</li> <li>3.4.1. Effect of Mustard Tissues and Seed Meal on Survival of Microsclerotia</li> <li>3.4.2. Glucosinolate Hydrolysis Products, Ammonia and Nitrous Acid in Soil.</li> </ul>	70 71 74 74 75 75 76 77 78 78 78 78 78 79 80 81 81 85 89
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li> <li>3.2. Introduction</li> <li>3.3. Materials and Methods</li> <li>3.3.1. Plant Material for Amemendments</li> <li>3.3.2. V. dahliae Inoculum Preparation</li> <li>3.3.3. Microcosm Soil Preparation</li> <li>3.3.4. Experimental Setup</li> <li>3.3.5. V. dahliae Microsclerotia Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1. Soil ITC Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1.1. Soil Extraction</li> <li>3.3.6.1.2. ITC Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.2. Ammonia, Nitrous Acid and pH Determinations</li> <li>3.3.7. Statistical Analysis</li> <li>3.4.1. Effect of Mustard Tissues and Seed Meal on Survival of Microsclerotia</li> <li>3.4.2. Glucosinolate Hydrolysis Products, Ammonia and Nitrous Acid in Soil.</li> <li>3.5. Discussion</li> <li>3.5.1. Mechanisms Associated with Inhibition of V. dahliae Microsclerotia</li> </ul>	70 71 74 74 75 75 75 76 77 78 78 78 78 78 78 79 80 81 81 81 89
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li> <li>3.2. Introduction</li> <li>3.3. Materials and Methods</li> <li>3.3.1. Plant Material for Amemendments</li> <li>3.3.2. <i>V. dahliae</i> Inoculum Preparation</li> <li>3.3.3. Microcosm Soil Preparation</li> <li>3.3.4. Experimental Setup</li> <li>3.3.5. <i>V. dahliae</i> Microsclerotia Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6. Soil Chemical Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1. Soil ITC Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1.2. ITC Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.2. Ammonia, Nitrous Acid and pH Determinations</li> <li>3.3.7. Statistical Analysis</li> <li>3.4.1. Effect of Mustard Tissues and Seed Meal on Survival of Microsclerotia</li> <li>3.4.2. Glucosinolate Hydrolysis Products, Ammonia and Nitrous Acid in Soil.</li> <li>3.5. Discussion</li> <li>3.5.1. Mechanisms Associated with Inhibition of <i>V. dahliae</i> Microsclerotia</li> <li>Germination</li> </ul>	70 71 74 74 75 75 75 76 77 78 78 78 78 78 78 79 80 81 81 81 85 89
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li></ul>	70 71 74 74 75 75 76 77 78 78 78 78 78 78 79 80 81 81 85 89 89 89 89
<ul> <li>3.1. Abstract</li> <li>3.2. Introduction</li> <li>3.3. Materials and Methods</li> <li>3.3.1. Plant Material for Amemendments</li> <li>3.3.2. <i>V. dahliae</i> Inoculum Preparation</li> <li>3.3.3. Microcosm Soil Preparation</li> <li>3.3.4. Experimental Setup</li> <li>3.3.5. <i>V. dahliae</i> Microsclerotia Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1. Soil Chemical Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1. Soil ITC Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.1.2. ITC Analysis</li> <li>3.3.6.2. Ammonia, Nitrous Acid and pH Determinations</li> <li>3.3.7. Statistical Analysis</li> <li>3.4. Results</li> <li>3.4. Effect of Mustard Tissues and Seed Meal on Survival of Microsclerotia</li> <li>3.4. Effect of Mustard Tissues and Seed Meal on Survival of Microsclerotia</li> <li>3.4.1. Effect of Mustard Tissues and Seed Meal on Survival of Microsclerotia</li> <li>3.4.2. Glucosinolate Hydrolysis Products, Ammonia and Nitrous Acid in Soil.</li> <li>3.5.1. Mechanisms Associated with Inhibition of <i>V. dahliae</i> Microsclerotia</li> <li>3.5.2. Soil Properties Related to Mechanisms Reducing <i>V. dahliae</i> Microsclerotia</li> <li>3.6. Conclusions</li> </ul>	70 71 74 74 75 75 76 77 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 79 80 81 81 85 89 89 89 89 89

4.	01	/ERALL SYNTHESIS	101
	4.1.	Reduction of Verticillium Population in Soil and Impact on Disease, Yield a	and
		Potato Quality	101
	4.2.	Mechanisms of Achieving Disease Reduction and Yield Increase without	
		Decreasing Verticillium Propagule Density in Soil	103
	4.3.	Economic Considerations	104
	44	Role of Soil Properties in Determining Efficacy of Green Manures and	
		Amendments	106
	45	Recommendations	107
	ч. <i>э</i> . 4.6	Literature Cited	109
	4.0.		
5	ΛΙ	PPENIDICES	112
•			

## LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 2.1.</b> Crop, green manure and organic amendment treatments used in this study         at three sites in Manitoba. Plants other than wheat and potato were green         manures
<b>Table 2.2.</b> Experiment 1. Effect of wheat, green manure, organic amendment and Vapam treatments on propagule density of <i>V. dahliae</i> (CFU g <sup>-1</sup> soil) and Verticillium wilt incidence at the Carberry site
<b>Table 2.3.</b> Experiment 1. Water soluble nitrate-N (NO3 <sup>-</sup> -N), sodium bicarbonateextractable-P, ammonium acetate extractable-K, water soluble S (SO4 <sup>-2</sup> ),pH and electrical conductivity (EC) in the soil following potato harvest,September 2008
<b>Table 2.4.</b> Experiment 1. Effect of wheat, green manure, organic amendments         and Vapam treatment on marketable potato yield
<b>Table 2.5.</b> Experiment 2. Effect of wheat and green manure treatments on soilpropagule density of V. dahliae (CFU g <sup>-1</sup> soil) and Verticillium wilt incidence48
<b>Table 2.6.</b> Experiment 2. Effect of wheat and green manure treatments on Verticillium wilt incidence and marketable yield of potato
<b>Table 3.1.</b> Characteristics of the three soils used in the study (depth: 0–15 cm). Data shown are the average of four replications

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. <i>Verticillium dahliae</i> . A) Microsclerotia. B) Colonies of <i>V. dahliae</i> developed from microsclerotia distributed on a plate. C) Germination of microsclerotia	
Figure 1.2. Verticillium wilt disease cycle	
<b>Figure 1.3.</b> Outline of hydrolysis of glucosinolates by the enzyme myrosinase. Structure of isothiocyanates most commonly encountered in soil amended with mustard green manure or seed meal	
Figure 2.1. Location of the three study sites in relation to the towns of Carberry, Shilo and Miami, Manitoba. The Carberry site (●) was used in Experiment1, and the Shilo (▲) and Miami (■) sites used in Experiment225	
<ul> <li>Figure 2.2. Experiment 1. Green manures planted at the Carberry site. A. White mustard,</li> <li>B. Fall rye, C. Sorghum-sudangrass, D. Oriental mustard,</li> <li>E. Canada milk vetch, F. Oat/pea mix</li></ul>	
Figure 2.3. A. Compost beef cattle manure applied to the soil surface on May 15, 2008 at the Carberry site, and B. Incorporation of compost in Experiment 1	
Figure 2.4. A. Field application of Vapam on October 15, 2007, immediately after wheat harvest at the Carberry site, and B. Rolling of Vapam treated plots to smooth and compact soil in Experiment 1	
Figure 2.5. A. Oriental mustard seed meal on the surface of a treated plot on May 15, 2008 at the Carberry site, and B. Incorporation of mustard seed meal in Experiment 1	
Figure 2.6. Bioassay results for the effect of mustard seed meal, Vapam and green manures on germination of <i>V. dahliae</i> microsclerotia, expressed as a percentage of germination of microsclerotia in wheat control plots at 1 week (□) and 3 weeks (□) after application at the Carberry site. MUST <sub>meal</sub> = mustard seed meal, VAP= Vapam, O/PEA= oat/peas mix, CMV= Canada milk vetch, SS2= 2-year sorghum-sudangrass, SS1= 1-years sorghum-sudangrass, RYE= fall rye, MUSTor= Oriental mustard, MUSTwh= white mustard, and ALF= alfalfa. Means followed by same letter are not significantly different (P < 0.05) according to	

Figure	<b>3.1.</b> Germination of <i>V. dahliae</i> microsclerotia in the three study soils amended
	with oriental mustard tissue at concentrations, $1.5\%$ ( $\blacksquare$ ) and $3\%$ ( $\triangle$ ) w w <sup>-1</sup> , and
	mustard seed meal at concentrations, 0.25% ( $\Box$ ) and 0.5% ( $\circ$ ) w w <sup>-1</sup> , and
	nonamended (*). Data shown are the average of four replicates (+1 standard
	error). Means for the germination of microsclerotia 4 and 42 days after
	incorporation in each soil followed by the same letter are not significantly
	different ( $P < 0.05$ ) according to the Bonferroni's multiple comparison
	test

## ABBREVIATIONS

ANOVA	Analysis of variance
С	Celsius degrees
CC	container capacity
cv	cultivar
d	day
g	gram
GLS	glucosinolates
h	hour
HNO <sub>2</sub>	nitrous acid
ITC	isothiocyanate
min	minutes
mL	milliliter
mМ	millimolar
nM	nanomolar
NH <sub>3</sub>	ammonia
$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	ammonium
NS	no significant
ppm	part per million
rpm	revolutions per minute
SE	standard error
tonne	1000 kilograms
Total N	total nitrogen in soil
var	variety

xiii

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

After the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) came into effect, potato production has become increasingly important to Canada (USDA 2002). The growing demand in North America and elsewhere for processed potatoes has resulted in expansion of potato processing and production on the Prairies (Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada 2007). This trend brings some environmental risk such as soil erosion and surface and groundwater contamination due to an increased use of fertilizer, insecticides and fungicides spraying. The environmental risk is often correlated to an increased pressure by plant pathogens. Verticillium wilt has been one of the most serious disease problems in most potato production areas in North America during the last 10 to 15 years. Potato growers have recognized the necessity of bringing alternative practices for management of Verticillium wilt. However, those practices have to be suitable to their soil and environmental conditions, which means that whatever the alternative approach to manage Verticillium wilt is, it needs to be evaluated before potato growers implement it.

Green manures and organic amendments are commonly used in crop production systems to increase soil nutrient availability, organic nitrogen and organic matter, which are associated with reduced diseases and higher tuber yields (Davis et al. 2001). The potential of green manures and organic amendments as means to reduce wilt diseases in Manitoba potato production areas is unknown, and research is needed to incorporate those practices in sustainable production systems in order to help farmers build soil, water and food quality for future generations.

#### 1.1. Verticillium dahliae: a Soil-borne Pathogen

Verticillium dahliae Kleb. is a soil-borne fungal pathogen of many crops and is broadly distributed worldwide (Katan 2000). It is responsible for serious disease damage in over 200 dicotyledonous species including herbaceous annuals, perennials and woody species (Fradin and Thomma 2006). Verticillium wilt symptoms are diverse and may be associated with other diseases or physiological problems. The first symptom is wilting and yellowing (chlorosis) of the lower leaves. The affected tissues die and the symptoms spread to younger leaves, thus resulting in the wilting of the plant, which in some cases begins from one side of the plant (Saeed et al. 1997; Vloutoglou et al. 2000; Fradin and Thomma 2006). V. dahliae is a soil-borne fungus of potato (Solanum Tuberosum L.) that is responsible for the Verticillium wilt disease (Rowe and Powelson 2002; Fradin and Thomma 2006). Verticillium wilt has developed slowly over many years in potato production areas of the Red River Valley in North America (Rowe et al. 1987). In Manitoba, since Verticillium wilt was first reported to have severe damage to potato in 1934 (Hoes and Zimmer 1968), many potato fields planted with cv Russet Burbank have been found to be infested with highly pathogenic V. dahliae isolates, which can produce disease severity of up to 90% (Uppal et al. 2007) and serious economic losses due to reduced yield and tuber quality (Johnson 1988; Shinners-Carnelley et al. 2003).

É i

*V. dahliae* is a soil-borne deuteromycete fungus. It forms microsclerotia, thick-walledmelanized and multicelled resting structures (Lopez-Escudero et al. 2007) which are formed in senescent and dead tissue of many field crops (Mol and Scholte 1995) (Figure (1.1.).



**Figure 1.1.** *Verticillium dahliae*. A) Microsclerotia. B) Colonies of *V. dahliae* developed from microsclerotia distributed on a plate. C) Germination of microsclerotia.

Microsclerotia constitute the most important survival structure of this pathogen because they can survive up to 14 years in the field regardless whether the crop is a host or non-host (Wilhelms 1955). Microsclerotia are found either free or embedded in the plant debris, or in the vascular ring of the tuber (Rowe and Powelson 2002). The germination of microsclerotia is activated by root exudates in the rhizosphere of host plants. Then, the hyphae penetrate the plant roots and grow through the root cortex and into the vascular system causing vascular disruption (Fradin and Thomma 2006) (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2. Verticillium wilt disease cycle.

Management of *V. dahliae* is commonly achieved using chemical fumigants such as methyl bromide, vapam and chloropicrin (Rowe and Powelson 2002; Triky-Dotan et al. 2007). However, concern for potential health and/or environmental damage as well as cost have led to a search for alternative strategies to manage Verticillium wilt of potato (Davis et al. 1996).

These factors, together with the fact that potato resistance to Verticillium wilt has not been widely available (Rowe and Powelson 2002), have led the potato industry to searching for alternative management strategies. Recently, old practices such as incorporation of green manure, animal manure, compost, seed meals and other types of organic amendments have been used to control soil borne pathogens (Baley and Lazarovits 2003; Janvier et al. 2007).

#### 1.2. Green Manure and Organic Amendments

Organic amendments include a broad variety of inputs, including animal manure, compost and some other solid waste. Throughout the history of agriculture, organic amendments and green manures have been used to increase cropping sustainability (Haas and Defago 2005; Otten and Gilligan 2006; Raaijmakers et al. 2009) by improving soil organic matter, nutrient availability (Magdoff and Weil 2004), and plant health. Moreover, the incorporation of organic amendments enhance soil quality by increasing water-holding capacity and infiltration rates and lowering bulk density (Tester 1990; Werner 1997).

Green manure crops are any crop grown for the purpose of being plowed under while green or soon after maturity for soil improvement (SSSA 2008). Green manure can be a crop, crop-derived fertilizer, leguminous, or non-leguminous. It can be grown in situ or brought from outside as cuttings of trees and shrubs (green leaf manuring) (Singh et al. 1991). On the other hand, cover crops are "close-growing crops", that provide soil protection, seeding protection, and soil improvement between periods of normal crop production, such as green manures. However, only when cover crops are plowed under and incorporated into the soil, cover crops may be referred to as green manure crops (Fageria 2007). The utilization of green manure and organic amendments in agriculture has contributed immensely to converting poor fragile lands into stable productive areas. However, several factors may possibly restrict the potential benefits of green manures to crops such as the synchrony of nutrient release, during decomposition, with crop nutrient demand (Cobo et al. 2002). Also, when using green manure to reduce soil-borne pathogens, it is necessary to consider the type of materials, chemical composition, quantity and form of application into the soil (Lopez-Escudero et al. 2007; Ochiai et al. 2008).

#### 1.2.1. Green Manure and Organic Amendments: a tool for Management of Soil-

#### borne Pathogens

The benefits of green manuring in agriculture are multifold (Sultani et al. 2007). Besides restoring soil productivity, green manures could reduce soil exposure to erosive processes and reduce nitrogen losses, and ultimately, green manure crops can be used to reduce weeds (Boydston and Hang 1995) and soil pathogen pressure (Davis et al. 1999; Larkin and Griffin 2007). Weed suppression has been reported with under-seeded biennial sweet clover (*Meliloutus offcianalis* L. Lam.) (Blackshaw et al. 2001), winter rye (*Secale cereale* L.), winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.) (Kruidhof et al. 2009) and some other species of the *Brassicacea* family (Kirkegaard and Sarwar 1999). Several reports have shown that green manures and some organic amendments can be highly effective in controlling a range of soil-borne diseases such as *Phytophthora* spp., *Fusarium* spp., *Verticillium* spp., *Rhizoctonia* spp, and *Sclerotinia* spp. (Hoitink and Boehm 1999; Noble and Coventry 2005; Bonanomi et al. 2007). The effectiveness of organic amendments in reducing disease

pressure is relatively variable among organic amendment types (Bonanomi et al. 2007), pathogen inoculum densities (Wiggins and Kinkel 2005b), and soil conditions (Tenuta and Lazarovits 2002a). This suggests that the positive effect of using green manures or organic amendments on soil-borne pathogens depends on the specific local crop-pathogenenvironment interactions. However, in general the mechanisms involved in disease control are multiple and can vary with each pathosystem (Janvier et al. 2007). Green manures and organic amendments can reduce soil-borne pathogens through enhanced suppressive activity in soil (Mazzola 2004), or direct toxicity of fungitoxic compound and hydrolysis products from glucosinolates released from Brassicaceae residues incorporated into the soil (Subbarao and Hubbard 1996; Blok et al. 2000; Brown and Morra 2005; Wiggins and Kinkel 2005b; Matthiessen and Kirkegaard 2006) or mediated by the release of toxic nitrification products from high nitrogen amendments (Tenuta and Lazarovits 2002b).

## **1.2.2.** Mechanisms of Disease Suppression of *V. dahliae* Associated to Green Manures and Organic Amendments

#### 1.2.2.1. Promoting Suppressive Activity in Soil

The major benefit of organic amendments to soil is attributed to their labile carbon fractions, which are a source of energy necessary to increase soil microbial activity (Elliott and Lunch 1994; Stone et al. 2004), species richness (Janvier et al. 2007), and bacterial populations (Mader et al. 2002). Depending on the plant species used and cultivars, the increase in microbial biomass and microbial activity contributes to the disease suppressive capacity of the soil (Alabouvette et al. 2004; Dordas 2008). Besides this relationship, biological diversity and stability may be associated with soil health (van Bruggen and

Semenov 2000). It implies a connection between soil health, the capacity of the biological community to suppress soil-borne plant pathogens, the propagule density of soil-borne pathogens, and the disease incidence and severity (van Bruggen and Semenov 1996). By definition, a suppressive soil is one in which "the pathogen does not establish or persist, establishes but causes little damage or no damage, or establishes and causes disease for a while but thereafter the disease is less important, although the pathogen may persist in the soil" (Stone et al. 2004). Furthermore, disease suppression can be an important function of a healthy soil, especially since the suppressive effect may be affected by environmental and soil conditions. Green manures and organic amendments promote soil suppression of soil-borne pathogens due to a range of several mechanisms such as competition and antagonism by the soil biota associated with microbial diversity and stability (Hoitink and Boehm 1999), volatile compounds from the organic matter (Noble and Coventry 2005), and enhancing availability of nutrients such as P, Mn and Zn, which can affect disease tolerance (Huber and Graham 1999).

#### **1.2.2.2.** Reaction Product of Glucosinolates Containing Materials

Brassicaceae plants such as cabbage, broccoli, and mustards are currently receiving renewed attention as an important source of sulphur secondary plant metabolites, glucosinolates (GSLs) (Matthiessen and Kirkegaard 2006). Glucosinolates naturally occur in plants in conjunction with a hydrolytic enzyme myrosinase, which catalyses their hydrolysis (Mikkelsen et al. 2002) (Figure 1.3.)



**Figure 1.3.** Outline of hydrolysis of glucosinolates by the enzyme myrosinase. Structure of isothiocyanates most commonly encountered in soil amended with mustard green manure or seed meal.

When the plant is physically disrupted, GSLs are hydrolyzed by the enzyme myrosinase to a number of products, most commonly found in soil isothiocyanates (ITCs), thiocyanates and nitriles (Brown et al. 1991). ITCs are generally regarded as a very toxic product against a wide range of soil organisms including nematodes, bacteria and fungi (Sarwar et al. 1998). ITCs are known to inhibit mycelial growth and germination of pathogen propagules (Olivier et al. 1999).

The effectiveness of biofumigation reducing soil-borne pathogen pressure depend on release efficiency and release rate of ITCs from plant tissues, susceptibility of the target species, soil texture, organic matter, pH and moisture content (Brown et al. 1991). Sorption of ITCs to soil particles and soil organic matter is an important mechanism in reducing the ITCs effectiveness (Matthiessen and Shackleton 2005). Also, high soil temperature has been correlated with an increased release rate of ITCs and greater inhibitory effect toward pathogenic fungi (Gamliel and Stapleton 1993). In addition, the soil moisture content directly affects production and retention time of ITCs. Under wet conditions, some ITCs with greater water solubility would have superior fungicidal effect compared to more volatile and less soluble ITCs (Frick et al. 1998). Increased water content correlates with ITC longevity in soil (Borek et al. 1995).

Soil factors such as pH or availability of ferrous ions are related with the type of product released after the hydrolysis of GSLs. For example, ITCs are usually produced at neutral pH values while nitrile production occurs at lower pH (Bones and Rossiter 1996).

Production of ITCs or other fungitoxic hydrolysis compounds is not the only cause for the suppression or reduction of soil-borne pathogens (Larkin and Griffin 2007). Cohen et al. (2005) found that suppression of *R. solani* by *Brassica napus* seed meal was associated with changes in soil microbial communities. Moreover, Matthiessen and Shackleton (2005) suggest that *Brassica* green manure incorporation increases soil organic matter and enhances soil structure and erosion control, which have been associated with reduction of soil-borne pathogens.

#### **1.2.2.3.** Nitrogen Transformation Products from Nitrogenous Amendments

High nitrogen-containing organic amendments and green manures have shown effective control of soil-borne pathogens (Gamliel et al. 2000; Tenuta and Lazarovits 2002b). Addition of high organic N amendments such as meat and bone meal, soy meal, oil seed meals and blood meal promote accumulation of volatile ammonia, which is toxic to many soil-borne organisms (Baley and Lazarovits 2003). Effectiveness of these high nitrogen-containing amendments have been often correlated with amendments with low C:N ratios (<10), such as oil seed meals, compost and green manures (Rodriguez-Kabana 1986).

*Verticillium dahliae* microsclerotia have been shown to be effectively reduced by accumulation of ammonia. Tenuta and Lazarovits (2002b) demonstrated that ammonia and nitrous acid from nitrogenous amendments and liquid swine manure inhibited incomicrosclerotia germination. However, effectivity depends on accumulation of ammonia and

11

Sec. 1

residence time. Such factors are controlled by the soil conditions. Bailey and Lazarovits (2003) stated that the pathogen suppressive effect of nitrogen-containing amendments is variable depending on the type of soil. Tenuta and Lazarovits (2002a) demonstrated that low organic carbon and high sand content is highly associated to NH<sub>3</sub> accumulation in soil. Such condition was found to be adequate for killing microsclerotia of *V. dahliae*.

#### **1.3.** Thesis Objectives

1

The objectives of this thesis were:

- To evaluate selected green manure and organic amendments for their ability to reduce propagule density of *V. dahliae* in soil, incidence and severity of Verticillium wilt, and to enhance potato yield in Manitoba.
- To evaluate the potential of mustard green manure and seed meal in Manitoba soils at rates lower than those recommended; and to indentify soil conditions affecting the concentration and residence time of fungitoxic compounds released from oriental mustard plant tissue and seed meal, and thus, effectiveness to reduce survival of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia.

Field and laboratory studies (and analysis) were conducted in order to meet the above objectives. The data in this thesis present an approach to sustainable management of potato diseases in Manitoba. Chapter 2 describes the effects of green manure and organic amendments on germination of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia, propagule density of *V. dahliae* in soil, and the effectiveness of selected green manure crops and organic amendments in reducing Verticillium wilt in potato. This chapter also highlights the effects of the treatments on marketable yield of potato and soil quality, in different potato soils of Manitoba. Chapter 3 presents results of a laboratory study examining the potential for mustard green manure and seed meal to reduce germination of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia in Manitoba soils, and the effectiveness of lower applications rates than those found to be effective, but economically impractical. In addition, this chapter discusses the effects of three different soils on the efficacy of ITCs, released from mustard green manure and seed meal. Chapter 4 is an overall synthesis discussing the general findings of the thesis and discusses the benefits of using green manures in plant pathogen control and concludes with recommendations.

#### 1.4. Literature Cited

 Alabouvette, C., Backhouse, D., Steinberg, C., Donovan, N. J., Edel-Hermann, V., Burges, L. W., et al. (2004). Microbial diversity in soil - effects on crop health Managing soil quality: Challenges in modern Agriculture. (pp. 121-137). CABI Publishing, Cambridge, MA.

Baley, K. L., and Lazarovits, G. (2003). Suppressing soil-borne diseases with residue management and organic amendments. *Soil & Tillage Research*. 72: 169-180.

Blackshaw, R. E., Moyer, J. R., and Doram, R. C. (2001). Yellow sweetclover, green manure, and its residues effectively suppress weeds during fallow. *Weed Science*. 49: 406-413.

Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada. (2007). *Canadian Potato Situation and Trends* 2006-2007. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.

- Blok, W. J., Lamers, J. G., Termorshuizen, A. J., and Bollen, G. J. (2000). Control of soilborne plant pathogens by incorporating fresh organic amendments followed by tarping. *Phytopathology*. 90: 253-259.
- Bonanomi, G., Antignani, V., Pane, C., and Scale, F. (2007). Suppression of soilborne fungal diseases with organic amendments. *Journal of Plant Pathology*. 89(3): 311-324.
- Bones, A. M., and Rossiter, J. T. (1996). The myrosinase-glucosinolate system, its organisation and biochemistry. *Physiologia Plantarum*. 97: 194-208.
- Borek, V., Morra, M. J., Brown, P. D., and McCaffrey, J. P. (1995). Transformation of glucosinolate-derived allelochemicals allyl isothiocianate and allylnitrile in soil. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*. 43: 1935-1940.
- Boydston, R. A., and Hang, A. (1995). Rapeseed (*Brassica napus*) green manure crop suppresses weeds in potato. *Weed Technology*. 9: 669-675.
- Brown, J., and Morra, M. J. (2005) *Glucosinolate-containing Seed Meal as a Soil Amendment to Control Plant Pests 2000-2002*. Subcontract Report NREL/SR-510-35254 (pp. 99). University of Idaho, Moscow, ID.
- Brown, P. D., Morra, M. J., McCaffrey, J. P., Auld, J. P., and Williams, L. (1991). Allelochemicals produced during glucosinolate degradation in soil. *Journal Chemical Ecology*. 17: 2021-2034.
- **Cobo, J. G., Barrios, E., Kas, D. C. L., and Thomas, R.** (2002). Nitrogen mineralization and crop uptake from surface-applied leaves of green manure species on tropical volcanic-ash soil. *Biology and Fertility of Soils.* 36: 87-92.
- Cohen, M. F., Yamasaki, H., and Mazzola, M. (2005). *Brassica napus* seed meal soil amendment modifies microbial community structure, nitric oxide production and incidence of Rhizoctonia root rot. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. 37: 1215-1227.
- Davis, J. R., Huisman, O. C., Everson, D. O., and Scheneider, A. T. (2001). Verticillium wilt of potato: a model of key factors related to disease severity and tuber yield in Southeastern Idaho. *American Journal of Potato Research*. 78: 291-300.
- Davis, J. R., Huisman, O. C., Everson, D. O., Sorensen, L. H., and Schneider, A. (1999). Control of Verticillium wilt of the Russet Burbank potato with corn and barley. (Abstr.). American Journal of Potato Research. 76: 367.
- Davis, J. R., Huisman, O. C., Westermann, D. T., Hafez, S. L., Everson, D. O., Sorensen, L. H., et al. (1996). Effects of green manures on Verticillium wilt of potato. *Phytopathology*. 86: 444-453.

- **Dordas, C.** (2008). Role of nutrients in controlling plant diseases in sustainable agriculture. A review. *Agronomical Sustainable Development*. 28: 33-46.
- Elliott, L. F., and Lunch, J. M. (1994). Biodiversity and soil resilience. In D. J. Greenland & I. Szabolcs (Eds.), *Soil resilience and sustainable land use.* (pp. 353-364). CAB International., Wallingford, UK.
- Fageria, N. K. (2007). Green manuring in crop production. *Journal of Plant Nutrition. 30*: 691-719.
- Fradin, E. F., and Thomma, B. P. (2006). Physiology and molecular aspects of Verticillium wilt diseases caused by *V. dahliae* and *V. albo-atrum. Molecular Plant Pathology.* 7: 71-86.
- Frick, A., Zebarth, B. J., and S.Y., S. (1998). Behavior of the soil fumigant methyl isothiocyanate in repacked soil columns. *Journal of Environmental Quality*. 27(5): 1158-1169.
- Gamliel, A., Austerweil, M., and Kritzman, G. (2000). Non-chemical approach to soilborne pest management organic amendments. *Crop Protection*. 19: 847-853.
- Gamliel, A., and Stapleton, J. J. (1993). Characterization of antifungal volatile compounds evolved from solarized soil amended with cabbage residues. *Phytopathology*. 83: 899-905.
- Haas, D., and Defago, G. (2005). Biological control of soil-borne pathogens by Fluorescent pseudomonas. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 3(4): 307-319.
- Hoes, J. A., and Zimmer, R. C. (1968). Disease of potato in Manitoba in 1968. Canadian Plant Disease Survey 48: 152-153.
- Hoitink, H. A. J., and Boehm, M. J. (1999). Biocontrol within the context of soil microbial communities: a substrate-dependent phenomenon. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*. 37: 427-446.
- Huber, D. M., and Graham, R. D. (1999). The role of nutrition in crop resistance and tolerance to diseases. In Z. Rengel (Ed.), *Mineral Nutrition of Crops: Fundamental Mechanisms and Implications* (pp. 169-204). The Haworth Press, INC., New York.
- Janvier, C., Villeneuve, F., Alabouvette, C., Edel-Hermann, V., Mateille, T., and Steinberg, C. (2007). Soil health through soil disease suppression: which strategy from descriptors to indicators? *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. *39*: 1-23.
- Johnson, K. B. (1988). Modeling the influences of plant infection rate and temperature on potato foliage and yield losses caused by *Verticillium dahliae*. *Phytopathology*. 78: 1198-1205.

- Katan, T. (2000). Vegetative compatibility among populations of Verticillium an overview. In E. C. Tjamos, R. C. Rowe, J. B. Heale & D. R. Fravel (Eds.), *Advances in Verticillium Research and Disease Management* (pp. 77-94). APS Press, St. Paul, Mn.
- Kirkegaard, J. A., and Sarwar, M. (1999). Glucosinolate profiles of Australian canola (*Brassica napus* annua L.) and Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea* L.) cultivars: implications for biofumigation. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*. 50: 315-324.
- Kruidhof, H. M., Bastiaans, L., and Kropff, M. J. (2009). Cover crop residue management for optimizing weed control. *Plant and Soil.* 318: 169-184.
- Larkin, R. P., and Griffin, T. S. (2007). Control of soilborne potato diseases using Brassica green manures. Crop Protection. 26: 1067-1077.
- Lopez-Escudero, F. J., Mwanza, C., and Blanco-Lopez, M. A. (2007). Reduction of *Verticillium dahliae* microsclerotia viability in soil by dried plant residues. *Crop Protection. 26*: 127-133.
- Mader, P., FlieBbach, A., Dubois, D., Gunst, L., Fried, P., and Niggi, U. (2002). Soil fertility and biodiversity in organic farming. *Science*. 296: 1694-1697.
- Magdoff, F., and Weil, R. R. (2004). Soil organic matter management strategies. In F. Magdoff & R. R. Weil (Eds.), *Soil Organic Matter in Sustainable Agriculture* (pp. 45-66). CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Matthiessen, J. N., and Kirkegaard, J. A. (2006). Biofumigation and enhanced biodegradation: opportunity and challenge in soilborne pest and disease management. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*. 25: 235-265.
- Matthiessen, J. N., and Shackleton, M. (2005). Biofumigation: environmental impacts on the biological activity of diverse pure and plant-derived isothiocyanates. *Pest Management Science*. 61: 1043-1051.

Mazzola, M. (2004). Assessment and management of soil microbial community structure for disease suppression. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*. 42: 35-39.

- Mikkelsen, M. D., Petersen, B. L., Olsen, C. E., and Halkier, B. A. (2002). Biosynthesis and metabolic engineering of glucosinolates. *Amino Acids*. 22: 279-295.
- Mol, L., and Scholte, K. (1995). Formation of microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae* Kleb. on various plant parts of two potato cultivars. *Potato Research.* 38: 143-150.
- Noble, R., and Coventry, E. (2005). Suppression of soil-borne diseases with composts: a review. *Biocontrol Science and Technology*. 15: 3-20.

- Ochiai, N., Powelson, M. L., Crowe, F. J., and Dick, R. P. (2008). Green manure effects on soil quality in relation to suppression of Verticillium wilt of potatoes. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*. 44: 1013-1023.
- Olivier, C., Vaughn, S. F., Mizubuti, E. S. G., and Loria, R. (1999). Variation in allyl isothiocyanate production within Brassica species and correlation with fungicidal activity. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*. 25: 2687-2701.
- Otten, W., and Gilligan, C. A. (2006). Soil structure and soil-borne diseases: using epidemiological concepts to scale from fungal spread to pant epidemics. *European Journal of Soil Sciences*. 57: 26-37.
- Raaijmakers, J. M., Paulitz, T. C., Steinberg, C., Alabouvette, C., and Moenne-Loccoz, Y. (2009). The rhizosphere: a playground and battlefield for soilborne pathogens and beneficial microorganisms. *Plant and Soil.* 302: 341-361.
- Rodriguez-Kabana, R. (1986). Organic and inorganic nitrogen amendments to soil as nematode suppressants. *Journal of Nematology*. 18(2): 129-135.
- Rowe, R. C., Davis, J. R., Powelson, M. L., and Rouse, D. I. (1987). Potato Early Dying: causal agents and management strategies. *Plant Disease*. 71: 482-489.
- Rowe, R. C., and Powelson, M. L. (2002). Potato Early Dying: management challenges in a changing production environment. *Plant Disease*. 86: 1184-1193.
- Saeed, I. A. M., MacGuidwin, A. E., and Rouse, D. I. (1997). Disease progress based on effects of *Verticillium dahlae* and *Pratylenchus penetrans* on gas exchange in Russet Burbank potato. *Phytopathology*. 87: 440-445.
- Sarwar, M., Kirkegaard, J. A., Wong, P. T. W., and Desmarchelier, J. M. (1998). Biofumigation potential of Brassicas III. In vitro toxicity of isothiocyanate to soilborne fungal pathogens. *Plant and Soil. 201*: 103-112.
- Shinners-Carnelley, T., Bains, P., McLaren, D., Thomson, J., and Geisel, B. (2003). Disease management *Guide to Commercial Potato Production on the Canadian Prairies.* (pp. 3.6.11.-13.16.18.). The Western Potato Council, Winnipeg, Canada.

Singh, Y., Khind, C. S., and Singh, B. (1991). Efficient management of leguminous green manures in wetland rice. *Advances in Agronomy*. 45: 135-189.

Soil Science Society of America. (2008). Glossary of Soil Science Terms. Retrieved 2008/07/12, from https://www.soils.org/publications/soils-glossary

Stone, A. G., Scheuerell, S. J., and Darby, H. M. (2004). Suppression of soilborne diseases in field agricultural systems: organic matter management, cover cropping,

٩. .

and other cultural practices. In F. Magdoff & R. R. Weil (Eds.), *Soil Organic Matter in Sustainable Agriculture*. (pp. 131-178). CRC Press LLC.

- Subbarao, K. V., and Hubbard, J. C. (1996). Interactive effects of broccoli residues and temperature on *Verticillium dahliae* microsclerotia in soil and on wilt in cauliflower. *Phytopathology*. 86: 1303-1310.
- Sultani, M. I., Gill, M. A., Anwar, M. M., and Athar, M. (2007). Evaluation of soil physical properties as influenced by various green manuring legumes and phosphorus fertilization under rain fed conditions. *Journal Environmental Science Tech.* 4 (1): 109-118.
- **Tenuta, M., and Lazarovits, G.** (2002a). Identification of specific soil properties that affect the accumulation and toxicity of ammonia to *Verticillium dahliae*. *Canadian Journal Plant Pathology*. 24: 219-229.
- Tenuta, M., and Lazarovits, G. (2002b). Ammonia and nitrous acid from nitrogenous amendments kill the microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Phytopathology*. 92: 255-264.
- Tester, C. F. (1990). Organic amendment effects on physical and chemical properties of a sandy soil. *Soil Science Society of America (SSSA)*. 54: 827-831.
- Triky-Dotan, S., Austerweil, M., Steiner, B., Peretz-Alon, Y., Katan, J., and Gamiel, A. (2007). Generation and dissipation of methyl isothiocyanate in soils following metam sodium fumigation: impact on Verticillium control and potato yield. *Plant Disease*. 91: 497-503.
- Uppal, A. K., El Hadrami, A., Adam, L. R., Tenuta, M., and Daayf, F. (2007). Pathogenic variability of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates from potato fields in Manitoba and screening of bacteria for their biocontrol. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*. 29: 141-152.
- **USDA.** (2002). *Effects of North American Free Trade Agreement on agriculture and the rural economy* (No. WRS0201): United States Department of Agriculture.

- van Bruggen, A. H. C., and Semenov, A. M. (1996). Test for risk assessment of root infection by plant pathogens. In J. W. Doran & A. J. Jones (Eds.), *Methods for assessing soil quality* (pp. 293-310). Soil Science Society of America, SSSC, Madison.
- van Bruggen, A. H. C., and Semenov, A. M. (2000). In search of biological indicators for soil health and disease suppression. *Applied Soil Ecology*. 15: 13-24.
- Vloutoglou, I., Paplomatas, E. J., and Lampropoulos, C. J. (2000). Differences in pathogenicity of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates from tomato, cotton, and watermelon.

In E. C. Tjamos, R. C. Rowe, J. B. Heale & D. R. Fravel (Eds.), *Advances in Verticillium Research and Disease Management* (pp. 155-159). APS press, St. Paul, Minnesota.

- Werner, M. R. (1997). Soil quality characteristics during conversion to organic orchard management. *Applied Soil Ecology*. 5: 151-167.
- Wiggins, B. E., and Kinkel, L. L. (2005b). Green manure and crop sequences influence potato diseases and pathogen inhibitory activity of indigenous Streptomycetes. *Phytopathology*. 95: 178-185.

Wilhelms, S. (1955). Longevity of the Verticillium wilt fungus in the laboratory and field. *Phytopathology*. 45: 180-181.

Margare 440

#### 2. FIELD STUDIES EXAMINING THE EFFECTS OF GREEN MANURE AND ORGANIC AMENDMENTS ON SURVIVAL OF MICROSCLEROTIA OF VERTICILLIUM DAHLIAE, VERTICILLIUM WILT AND POTATO YIELD.

#### 2.1. Abstract

Green manures and organic amendments can provide nutrients, improve soil quality and reduce disease pressure on crops. mustard seed meal amendment, composted beef cattle manure and green manure crops oriental mustard, white mustard, oat/pea, alfalfa, sorghum-sudangrass, Canada milk vetch and fall rye were evaluated with two field experiments from 2006 to 2008, at three different locations in Manitoba for the control of Verticillium dahliae, and for their ability to enhance potato yield. Experiment 1 was a 3vear study consisting of 2-year green manure of sorghum-sudangrass grass and alfalfa, 1year green manure of oat/pea, oriental mustard, yellow mustard, sorghum-sudangrass grass, Canada milk vetch, and rye, 2-years of composted beef cattle manure and 1-year oriental mustard seed-meal amendment, and a soil fumigant Vapam, as a chemical control and spring-wheat as a crop control treatment. Compost and seed-meal treatments reduced disease incidence to 25 and 13%. Additionally, compost increased marketable yield and mustard seed-meal provided the greatest reduction in V. dahliae propagules, whereas 1- or 2-years green manures were ineffective reducing propagule density or enhancing potato yield. Application of Vapam was partially effective in reducing propagule density only at the beginning of the potato season, but it did not reduce disease incidence compared to control. Experiment 2 was established on two commercial fields consisting of 1-year mustard mix (oriental and yellow mustard), oat/pea, sorghumsudangrass and pear millet green manure. In both experiments, green manures did not reduce the propagule density or Verticillium wilt incidence. Findings from the current studies suggest that one or two years of green manure does not appear to be an effective management tool for Verticillium wilt of potato in Manitoba. Composted beef cattle manure and oriental mustard seed meal amendments have promise as an alternative strategy for the control of *V. dahliae*. However, only compost beef cattle manure increased potato yield nutrient availability (P) in soil.

#### 2.2. Introduction

ar i l

*Verticillium dahliae* Kleb., the causal agent of Verticillium wilt of potato, is a soil-borne fungal pathogen of potato in many growing regions around the world. Yield reduction in North America by Verticillium wilt can range from 10 to 50% (Powelson and Rowe 1993). Control of Verticillium wilt is extremely difficult due the formation of resting structures called microsclerotia, which can survive in soil for up to 10-20 years (Huisman and Ashworth 1976; Schnathorst 1981). Microsclerotia, mainly formed in the vascular system of a host, are the principal source of inoculum for wilt development (Mol and Scholte 1995). However, the ability of *V. dahliae* to colonize some weeds and even some crops, such as corn and wheat without causing disease (Lacy and Horner 1966), further allows the fungus to survive in soil (Joaquin et al. 1988). Threshold levels of around two microsclerotia per gram of soil are sufficient for 70-100% infection of potato stems (Nicot and Rouse 1987), and more than six microsclerotia per gram of soil can result in a large yield loss ( $\geq 20\%$ ) (Mol et al. 1996).

Management of Verticillium wilt of potato depends on a variety of strategies attempting to prevent the germination and/or reduce *V. dahliae* microsclerotia numbers to below a threshold at which disease does not cause significant yield losses. Currently, there is not an environmental friendly and agronomically effective strategy to control Verticillium wilt (Soltani et al. 2002). The most common control measures for reducing propagule density of *V. dahliae* are chemical and cultural practices (Easton et al. 1992; Davis et al. 1996). For example, soil fumigation with metam sodium alone or in combination with other fumigants has been an effective means of controlling Verticillium wilt of potato in North America (Rowe and Powelson 2002; Tsror et al. 2005). However, concern for potential health and/or environmental damage from these pesticides as well as cost have led to a search for alternative strategies to manage Verticillium wilt of potato (Davis et al. 1996). Green manure is one cultural technique commonly recommended to reduce the number of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia in soil and to reduce Verticillium wilt incidence levels (Rowe and Powelson 2002).

Green manure, animal manure and compost are frequently used for improving soil quality, while providing nutrient to crops, and being suppressive to certain soil-borne pathogens such as *V. dahliae* (Davis et al. 1996; Lambert et al. 2005; Ochiai et al. 2008). Incidence of Verticillium wilt has been reduced with pea (*Pisum sativum*), oat (*Avena sativa*), broccoli (*Brassica oleracea*), sudan-grass (*Sorghum vulgare*) and corn (*Zea mays*) green manures (Davis et al. 1999; Wiggins and Kinkel 2005b; Ochiai et al. 2008), and addition of animal manures (Conn and Lazarovits 1999; Tenuta et al. 2002) and compost (LaMondia et al. 1999). However, incorporation of organic materials, such as
mustard or sudangrass green manure have also resulted in no reduction or even increased V. dahliae microsclerotia numbers in soil (Collins et al. 2005). Even though reduction of Verticillium wilt using organic amendments is often inconsistent and unpredictable, a variety of mechanisms responsible for killing V. dahliae microsclerotia have been associated with the incorporation of green manures, animal manures and composted materials (Conn and Lazarovits 1999; Tenuta et al. 2002). Suppression of Verticillium wilt by green manure and animal manures is attributed to reduction of microsclerotia in soil through fungitoxic compounds released during the decomposition of the amendment (Blok et al. 2000; Lopez-Escudero et al. 2007). Tenuta and Lazarovits (2002b) demonstrated that ammonia and nitrous acid from meat and bone meal and urea amendments killed microsclerotia in soil. Olivier et al. (1999) suggested that incorporation of glucosinolate containing plants, such as members of the Brassicaceae, reduce V. dahliae propagules due to the toxicity of hydrolysis products such as isothiocyanates (ITCs). Other studies have revealed that organic amendments can stimulate populations and activity of microorganisms that are antagonistic against V. dahliae (Lockwood 1988; Termorshuizen et al. 2006; Njoroge et al. 2008). In contrast, studies with sudan-grass and corn green manure suggest that reduction of Verticillium wilt incidence is not always associated with low propagule density of V. dahliae (Davis et al. 1996; Davis et al. 1999); it can also be attributed to improved soil fertility (NPK) (Rowe and Powelson 2002; Lambert et al. 2005) and soil quality (Ochiai et al. 2008).

Green manure and organic amendments have diverse and often unknown mechanisms by which *V. dahliae* can be controlled or killed. Mustard green manures and seed meal may

reduce *V. dahliae* microsclerotia numbers directly through fungitoxic compounds, such as ITCs (Olivier et al. 1999). Canada milk vetch green manure might reduce severity of Verticillium wilt due to the production of fungitoxic compounds or an induction of defense response mechanisms in the plant (Uppal et al. 2008). Oat/peas, fall rye, sorghum-sudangrass and alfalfa green manure and compost beef-cattle manure may also affect *V. dahliae* by changing soil conditions (N, total C and microbial biomass) (Ochiai et al. 2008).

In Manitoba, growers of processing potato are interested in controlling Verticillium wilt as it is believed to be one of the reasons why the provincial average yield is lower than in other potato growing regions. Manitoba potato fields planted with cv Russet Burbank have been found to be infested with highly pathogenic *V. dahliae* isolates, which can produce disease severity up to 90% (Uppal et al. 2007). This level of disease severity affects plant growth and depresses potato yield and ultimately reduces yield of potato. The effectiveness of green manures and organic amendments for reducing *V. dahliae* microsclerotia and Verticillium wilt has not been tested in Manitoba. Therefore, the objective of this study was to evaluate selected green manure and organic amendments for their ability to reduce *V. dahliae* microsclerotia density in soil, incidence and severity of Verticillium wilt, and to enhance potato yield under Manitoba growing conditions.

### 2.3. Materials and Methods

Two field experiments were performed from 2006 to 2008 at three sites located in Manitoba (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1. Location of the three study sites in relation to the towns of Carberry, Shilo and Miami, Manitoba. The Carberry site (●) was used in Experiment 1, and the Shilo (▲) and Miami (■) sites used in Experiment 2.

# 2.3.1. Experiment 1

The first experiment was conducted on an experimental field located at the Canada-Manitoba Crop Diversification Centre (CMCDC) near Carberry, MB. (Figure 2.1), between 2006 to 2008. The soil was a Ramada loam (pH<sub>water</sub> 6.0, EC 0.46 dSm<sup>-1</sup> and organic matter 5.1 %) naturally infested with *V. dahliae* (7 microsclerotia g<sup>-1</sup> soil) (0-15 cm depth). The field site had a history of moderate Verticillium wilt of potato (Dr. T. Shinners-Carnelley, personal communication). It was planted to potato in the season (2005) preceding the start of this study. The experimental design was a randomized complete block with four blocks and 12 treatments (Table 2.1). A total of 48 individual plots, 18 m long x 6 m wide, were separated by 2 m of fallow soil between plots and 10 m between each block (Appendix I, Figure 5.1).

Table 2.1. Crop, green manure and organic amendment treatments used in this study at three sites in Manitoba. Plants other than wheat and potato were green manures.

× · /	Site	Tuestreants	Year				
Experiment		i reatments -	2006	2007	2008 <sup>x</sup>		
· · ·		Control	Wheat	Wheat	Potato		
		СОМ	Wheat	Compost / Wheat	Compost/Potato		
		MUSTmeal	Wheat	Wheat	Seed meal/Potato		
		VAP	Wheat	Wheat / Vapam	Potato		
		O/PEA	Wheat	Oat / pea mix	Potato		
		CMV	Wheat	Canada milk vetch	Potato		
1	Carberry	SS2	Sorghum-Sudangrass	Sorghum-sudangrass	Potato		
		SS1	Wheat	Sorghum-sudangrass	Potato		
		RYE	Wheat	Fall Rye	Potato		
		MUSTor	Wheat	Oriental mustard	Potato		
		MUSTwh	Wheat	White mustard	Potato		
		ALF	Alfalfa	Alfalfa	Potato		
		Control	Wheat	Wheat	Potato		
	Shilo	O/PEA	Wheat	Oat / pea mix	Potato		
9 . <b>9</b> .		MUSTmix	Wheat	Mustard mix	Potato		
2		SS1	Wheat	Sorghum-Sudan	Potato		
4.		Control	Corn	Wheat	Potato		
11. L.	Miami	O/PEA	Corn	Oat / pea mix	Potato		
	Ivitami	MUSTmix	Corn	Mustards mix	Potato		
1 e		MILLET	Corn	Pearl millet	Potato		

<sup>x</sup> Carberry and Shilo sites planted to potato cv Russet Burbank, and Miami to cv Mozart.

<sup>y</sup> Site planted to potato cv Russet Burbank in 2005.

In 2006, plots of ten treatments were planted (May 23) to spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L) var. AC Cora (123 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>). Plots of two treatments were planted (May 25) to sorghum-sudangrass hybrid (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench) Super Su 22 (29 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) (SS2), and alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) (9 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) (ALF), respectively. The spring wheat was harvested and SS2 plots were disk soil incorporated to a depth of 15 cm on September 19, 2006.

In 2007, for the SS2 treatment sorghum-sudangrass was re-planted on the same plots. Plots of six treatments were planted on May 29 to white mustard (*Sinapis alba* L.) var. Ace (9 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) (MUSTwh); oriental mustard (*Brassica juncea* L.) var. Cutlas (5 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) (MUSTor); oat (*Avena sativa* L.) var. Triple crown/pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) var. 40-10 Forage Pea (86 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) (O/PEA); Canada milk vetch (*Astragalus canadensis* L.) (11 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) (CMV); fall rye (*Secale cereale* L.) (81 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) (RYE) and sorghum-sudangrass (SS1) (Figure 2.2). The remaining treatment plots were planted to spring wheat on May 30, 2007.

In 2007, compost beef cattle manure (COM) (Courtesy of Dr. K. Buckley, AAFC Brandon, MB) was hand applied, before wheat planting, at a rate of 44.5 wet tonne ha<sup>-1</sup> (42% organic matter, 1.28% N, 0.5% P) (Figure 2.3). Soil fumigation (VAP) with Vapam (United Agriproducts, Manitoba) was conducted on October 15, 2007, immediately after harvest of the spring-wheat. Before fumigation, plots were disked with a tandem disc followed by roto-tilling to loosen the soil to a depth of 15 cm. The fumigant was mixed with water and injected into plot areas, at 5000 L ha<sup>-1</sup> (762 L Vapam ha<sup>-1</sup>) (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.2. Experiment 1. Green manures planted at the Carberry site. A. White mustard, B. Fall rye, C. Sorghum-sudangrass, D. Oriental mustard, E. Canada milk vetch, F. Oat/pea mix.



Figure 2.3. A. Compost beef cattle manure applied to the soil surface on May 15, 2008 at the Carberry site, and **B**. Incorporation of compost in Experiment 1.

Vapam treatment was used as a synthetic fungicide control treatment. Treatments with green manure crops were cut down and mechanically incorporated in soil to a depth of 15 cm, between August and September 2007, by either disc or rototiller. Treatments planted to spring wheat were harvested on October 15 (Figure 2.4). In addition, plots of one treatment were planted to spring wheat and used as crop control treatment (Control).



Figure 2.4. A. Field application of Vapam on October 15, 2007, immediately after wheat harvest at the Carberry site, and **B**. Rolling of Vapam treated plots to smooth and compact soil in Experiment 1.

On May 21, 2008, all plots were planted to potato (*Solanum tuberosom* cv Russet Burbank). Seed rows were 1 m apart, with six rows per plot, and within row spacing of potato plants of 0.25 m. Prior to planting, each plot received a broadcast application of nutrients based on soil fertility analysis. Treatments were grouped according to soil fertility levels as follows: Group 1. (Soil report 133 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, 12.5 kg P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> and 265 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) Control, VAP, COM, MUSTmeal, RYE, SS2 and ALF treatments received a basal application of 34 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, 45 kg P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> and 78 kg K<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> each plot. Group 2. (Soil report 82 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, 12.5 kg P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> and 265 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) O/PEA, MUSTwh, MUSTor and SS1 treatments received 90 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, 45 kg P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> and 78 kg K<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> to each plot. Soil was disced to 15 cm follow fertilizer application. Potato hilling was done on June 24.

Mustard seed meal (MUSTmeal) was applied prior to planting in the form of partially deoiled oriental mustard seed-meal containing a high level of glucosinolate sinigrin (0.85%), 25% protein, 8% moisture and 4-6% ash content (Mustard Capital Inc., Gravelbourg, SK). Mustard seed meal was broadcasted by hand to the soil surface at a concentration of 9000 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> and incorporated into soil with a rototiller on May 15 2008 (Figure 2.5).



Figure 2.5. A. Oriental mustard seed meal on the surface of a treated plot on May 15, 2008 at the Carberry site, and B. Incorporation of mustard seed meal in Experiment 1.

#### 2.3.2. Experiment 2

The second experiment was established on two commercial fields. One field was located near Shilo and the other near Miami, MB. (Figure 2.1). The fields had a history of Verticillium wilt and, relatively high levels of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia in the 0-15 cm depth of soil (44 and 61 microsclerotia  $g^{-1}$  soil, respectively). The Shilo site was established on a Wheatland sand with a pH<sub>water</sub> 7.0, EC 0.52 dSm<sup>-1</sup> and organic matter

3.6%. The year prior to the start of this study, spring wheat was grown in 2006. In 2007, four treatments were established: three green manure crops and a spring-wheat control (Table 2.1). Plots, 268 m long x 15 m wide, with alleyways between plots of 5 m, were established in a randomized complete block design with three blocks (Appendix I, Figure 5.2A).

One treatment was planted on May 15, 2007 to spring wheat to serve as a crop-control treatment (Control). On May 17, treatments of white mustard and oriental mustard mix (MUSTmix), oat and pea mix (O/PEA), and sorghum-sudangrass (SS) were planted. Plots to oat and pea mix were seeded at a rate of 62 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, sorghum-sudangrass at 17 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, and white and oriental mustard mix at 13 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>. The O/PEA treatment received 11 kg  $P_2O_5$  ha<sup>-1</sup> and 11 kg  $K_2O$  ha<sup>-1</sup>. The MUSTmix received an application of 134 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, 22 kg  $S_2O$  ha<sup>-1</sup>, 11 kg  $P_2O_5$  ha<sup>-1</sup> and 11 kg  $K_2O$  ha<sup>-1</sup>. On July 17 mustards were cut down and incorporated into the first 15cm of soil with a chisel plough. On August 2, oat peas and sorghum-sudangrass were disced right after mowing.

In 2008 all plots were planted to potato, cv Russet Burbank on May 12. Rows were spaced 1 m apart, with 15 rows per plot, and within row, spacing of potato plants was 0.25 m apart. Potato hilling was shortly after emergence, on June 16.

The Miami site was established on clay loam with a  $pH_{water}$  8.1, EC 0.64 dSm<sup>-1</sup> and organic matter 2.5%. This field was previously planted to corn, in 2006. In this study, three green manure treatments and spring-wheat (Control) were planted in 2007 in a

32

randomized completed block design, with three blocks (Table 2.1). Plots were 152 m long x 13 m wide (Appendix I, Figure 5.2B). At the site, a white mustard and oriental mustard mix (MUSTmix), oat and pea mix (O/PEA) and pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R Br.) cv Canadian forage pearl millet-101 (MILLET) were planted as green manure treatments on June 7, 2007, at seeding rates of 13, 62 and 10 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Spring-wheat was seeded at a rate of 106 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, to serve as a control treatment (Control). The pearl millet was cut down 55 days after planting with a flail mower, to encourage new growth, and for the purpose of reducing weed pressure and increasing biomass accumulation. Forty-five days later, the pearl millet green manure was cut and disc incorporated into soil. The MUSTmix and O/PEA treatments were cut down at 50% of flowering, and incorporated into the first 15 cm of soil with a disc plough.

In 2008, all plots were planted to table potato, cv Mozart on May 17, 2008. Rows were spaced 1 m apart, with 12 rows per plot, and within row seed spacing of 0.25 m. Based on soil test analysis, 100 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, 78 kg  $P_2O_5$  ha<sup>-1</sup> and 22 kg  $S_2O$  ha<sup>-1</sup> were applied to each plot.

### 2.3.3. V. dahliae Survival in Soil

# 2.3.3.1. Survival of V. dahliae Microsclerotia

An in-situ soil bioassay was used in Experiment 1 to determine the survival of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia following green manure, seed meal and Vapam treatments. Microsclerotia from a highly pathogenic isolate of *V. dahliae* (vd-1396) to potato (Uppal et al. 2007)

was originally isolated by the Plant Pathology Laboratory, Winnipeg, Manitoba Agriculture and Food, Rural Initiatives. Microsclerotia of V. dahliae (vd-1396) were produced in the Soil Ecology Laboratory on semisolid Czapek-Dox medium for 3-4 weeks in the dark at 24°C (Hawke and Lazarovits 1994). The culture was poured through mesh screens to obtain microsclerotia of 75 to 106 µm diameter. The response of microsclerotia to the treatments was determined using microsclerotia mix with silica sand and the mixture added to nylon mesh bags (SAATILON® MONOFILAMENT NYLON) (Tenuta and Lazarovits 2002a). The mesh bags were placed in soil to a 10 cm depth immediately following treatment application and retrieved one and three weeks later. Bags were then dried at room temperature for 12 h and their contents spread onto a pectate-tergitol-agar plate using an Andersen Cascade Impactor (Andersen Instruments Inc., Smyrna, GA). The agar plates were incubated for 5-7 days in the dark at 24 °C and the germination of microsclerotia determined as the percentage of examined microsclerotia that germinated to form colonies (Tenuta and Lazarovits 2002a). Microsclerotia germination was normalized to the germination of the control treatment.

# 2.3.3.2. V. dahliae Propagule Density in Soil

To study density of *V. dahliae* in soil, a composite soil sample consisting of 20 soil cores were taken randomly from each plot with a 2.5 cm diameter soil probe to a depth of 15 cm, at four times: before green manure crops were planted (May, 2007), approximately two months after incorporation of green manures (September, 2007), prior to planting potato (April, 2009) and immediately after potato harvest (August, 2009). Soil cores from each plot were bulked, placed in polyethylene bags, and transported in an ice chest to the University of Manitoba. The samples were mixed by hand and stored at 4°C until determination of *V. dahliae* propagule density in soil.

A hundred gram subsample from each soil sample was air-dried for seven days at room temperature and then placed into a paper bag. A 5 g subsample was diluted (1:50) with sterilized agar-water (1%), and agitated for two minutes using an orbital shaker at 60 rpm. A one mL aliquot was placed onto Sorensen's NP-10 medium (Sorensen et al. 1991) containing chloramphenicol, streptomycin sulphate and chlortetracycline HCl. Each sample was plated ten times. Plates were incubated for a minimum of 15 days in the dark at 22°C. Plates were then rinsed with tap water to remove soil particles from the agar surface. The number of germinated *V. dahliae* microsclerotia was counted using a stereomicroscope, and expressed as *V. dahliae* propagules per gram soil (CFU  $g^{-1}$  soil).

#### 2.3.4. Disease Assessment

### 2.3.4.1. Verticillium Wilt Incidence and Severity

Verticillium wilt incidence was determined late in the season (August 25 to 29, 2008) as the proportion of a number of plants examined with symptoms of Verticillium wilt in each plot. For disease severity, ten plants were dug from one row on each side of each plot. The plant material was transported in an ice chest to The University of Manitoba for analysis. Disease severity by *V. dahliae* was assessed by taking a stem portion from the upper, middle and lower section of the plant. Stem portions were then vertically split in three sections to estimate the percentage of vascular tissue discolored (wilt severity) from each section using reference pictures (Appendix II, Figure 5.3) with a predetermined scale of 0 to 5, in which 0 = 0%, 1 = 1 to 10 %, 2 = 11 to 30 %, 3 = 31 to 50%, 4 = 51 to 75%, and 5 = 76 to 100% discoloration (Uppal et al. 2008).

#### 2.3.5. Plant and Soil Assessments

### 2.3.5.1. Leaf Chlorophyll Content

Leaf chlorophyll content was measured at the time of disease determinations, using a non-destructive portable chlorophyll meter (SPAD-502 Chlorophyll Meter, Minolta Camera Co., Ltd., Japan). The meter determined the difference in light attenuation wavelengths of 430 and 750 nm, and gives a numerical SPAD (Soil Plant Analysis Development) unit, ranging from 0 to 50, with 0 being completely chlorotic and 50 being strong green.

#### **2.3.5.2.** Soil Chemical Properties

For soil chemical analysis, three cores per plot were taken at two depths 0-15 cm for sodium bicarbonate extractable-P, ammonium acetate extractable K, pH and electrical conductivity, and 15-60 cm for the mobile nutrients,  $NO_3^-$  and  $SO_4^{-2}$ . The three soil cores from each plot were bulked, placed in polyethylene bags, and transported in an ice chest to the University of Manitoba, where each bag was mixed by hand and stored at 4°C. Samples were stored for no more than 24h before sending to the Bodycote Laboratory (Winnipeg, MB.) for analysis.

2.3.5.3. Potato Yield and Quality

For experiment 1, yield was expressed as metric tonne ha<sup>-1</sup>. Crop yield was determined by harvesting the two central rows of each plot. Experimental plots were mechanically harvested. Potato tubers were placed in open fiber bags, transported to the CMCDC station and stored at 5 °C until sample processing. Samples were then weighed to determine weight loss and washed. Based on tuber weight analysis, the size categories for marketable yield were: non-marketable tubers <85 g, regular 86-170 g, bonus 170.1-340 g and overweigh >340 g. Specific gravity was determined using the weight in air and water method, fry colour analysis by using USDA Fry Colour Chart, green colour, rot and hollow heart by tuber observation, and sugar end analyses by frying and comparing colour with a standard chart.

Potatoes were harvested manually for experiment 2. A three meter section from three central rows was dug by hand using a potato fork. Potato tubers were placed in open fiber bags, transported to the University of Manitoba, washed and weighed. Tubers were then manually graded into size categories: undersize <45 mm, marketable 45-50 mm and 51 mm diameter, for cv Russet Burbank; and small <55 mm, medium 55-88 mm and oversize >88 mm diameter for table potato cv Mozart. The difference in grading technique was because potato cv Russet Burbank was destined for processing and cv Mozart for table stock.

### 2.3.6. Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed with the Statistical Analysis Software (SAS) (SAS Institute, Cary, NC; release 9.1 for Windows). Prior to analysis, V. dahliae

propagule density in soil, disease incidence and severity, and marketable yield data sets were checked for normality (PROC Univariate). Survival of microsclerotia was determined at different times due to the different incorporation time of the green manure and application of the seed meal amendment and fungicide. A control measurement was made for each time. Therefore, survival of microsclerotia is presented as percentage of the Control (microsclerotia germination of Control = 100%) in order to compare the reduction between treatments. The data were analyzed by analysis of variance (ANOVA-PROC MIXED). A mixed-model analysis for each individual sampling time was performed using PROC MIXED. Treatment was considered a fixed effect and block a random effect. Treatment means were separated using the Bonferronni's procedure if the F-test was significant (P < 0.05). Contrasts were used to test the significance of differences between groups of treatments, particularly when significant interactions were found. Pearson correlation analysis was performed to examine the relationships between disease incidence, propagule density and measured soil characteristics.

#### 2.4. Results

1 a .

#### 2.4.1. Experiment 1

#### 2.4.1.1. Survival of V. dahliae Microsclerotia

The bioassay results showed germination of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia was weak by treatment (P<0.0001) and time from treatment application (P<0.006). In general, percentage germination of microsclerotia relative to the control was lower at three weeks than one week post treatment, except for MUSTmeal treatment which increased slightly

after three weeks (Figure 2.6). VAP and MUSTmeal were the most effective treatments for reducing germination of microsclerotia (P < 0.0001). One week following application, MUSTwh, MUSTor and O/PEA reduced germination of microsclerotia by about 40 % compared to the crop control. In contrast, CMV, SS1, SS2, RYE and ALF treatments did not affect the germination of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia (Figure 2.6).

Three weeks after application, Vapam was the most effective treatment reducing germination of microsclerotia to 5 % of the crop control (P < 0.0001). In contrast, MUSTmeal treatment was only partially effective after three weeks with the germination of microsclerotia being 24% of the crop control (Figure 2.6)



**Figure 2.6.** Bioassay results for the effect of mustard seed meal, Vapam and green manures on germination of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia, expressed as a percentage of germination of microsclerotia in wheat control plots at 1 week ( $\Box$ ) and 3 weeks ( $\blacksquare$ ) after application at the Carberry site. MUST<sub>meal</sub>= mustard seed meal, VAP= Vapam, O/PEA= oat/peas mix, CMV= Canada milk vetch, SS2= 2-year sorghum-sudangrass, SS1= 1-years sorghum-sudangrass, RYE= fall rye, MUSTor= oriental mustard, MUSTwh= white mustard, and ALF= alfalfa. Means followed by same letter are not significantly different (P < 0.05) according to the Bonferroni's multiple comparison test. Error bars represent +1 standard error.

Germination of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia decreased slightly with green manure treatments ranging from 60 to 90% of the crop Control. However, germination of microsclerotia in O/PEA, SS2, MUSTor and MUSTwh treatments was not significantly different from the MUSTmeal treatment. Although the germination of microsclerotia observed in SS1, ALF, RYE and CMV treatments was not significantly different from other green manure treatments, it was significantly higher than MUSTmeal (P < 0.05).

### 2.4.1.2. V. dahliae Propagule Density in Soil

Mean propagule densities of *V. dahliae* in spring and fall 2007 were 6 and 8 CFU g<sup>-1</sup> soil, respectively. Propagule density was not affected by incorporation of green manures in September 2007. However, contrast analysis showed lower density in MUSTwh and MUSTor compared to other green manure treatments (P = 0.0296) (Table 2.2).

Propagule density in soil also differed with treatment in the spring and fall of 2008 (P =0.0001). In spring 2008, green manure treatments did not reduce the density of propagules in soil compared with the Control. MUSTwh, MUSTor and O/PEA treatments maintained low propagule density ranging from 3 to 7 CFU g<sup>-1</sup> soil. The application of Vapam in Fall-2007 reduced the density of propagules in soil from 9 to 3 CFU g<sup>-1</sup> soil. Propagule density in VAP plots was significantly lower compared to Control plots (P <0.0001) and green manure plots (P =0.0006) (Table 2.2).

Table 2.2. Experiment 1. Effect of wheat, green manure, organic amendment and Vapam treatments on propagule density of *V. dahliae* (CFU  $g^{-1}$  soil) and Verticillium wilt incidence at the Carberry site.

	Propagule density (CFU g <sup>-1</sup> soil)					Incidence (%)	
Treatment		2007		2008		2008	
		May	Sept.	April	August	August	
	Control	$3 \pm 1^{v}$	5 ±2	13 ±3 a	27±2 ab	57±11 abc	
	COM	$10 \pm 4$	$6 \pm 1$	9 ±3 ab	12±3 cd	25 ±3 bc	
	MUSTmeal	$10 \pm 6$	11 ±2	15 ±2 a	$10\pm 1$ d	13 ±7 c	
	VAP	4 ±2	$9\pm 5$	· 3 ±1 b	$24\pm3$ abc	70±11 ab	
	O/PEA	11 ±5	9 ±2	7 ±2 ab	14±4 bcd	47±10 abc	
	CMV	6 ±2	12 ±6	12 ±4 ab	$21\pm2$ abcd	48 ±2 abc	
	SS2	4 ±3	4 ±1	11 ±2 ab	$25\pm4$ abc	93 ±7 a	
	SS1	6 ±3	11 ±7	14 ±3 a	18±2 abcd	62 ±7 ab	
	RYE	4 ±2	12 ±3	18 ±4 a	36±7 a	70±10 ab	
	MUSTor	8 ±3	7 ±4	7 ±2 ab	15±3 bcd	52±16 abc	
18	MUSTwh	3 ±1	3 ±2	3 ±1 b	17±2 abcd	52 ±6 abc	
1.	ALF	7 ±1	7 ±3	12 ±2 ab	$20\pm1$ abcd	62±13 ab	
P > F		ND	ND	0.0002 <sup>w</sup>	0.0001	0.0001	
Sele	cted contrasts (significan	t probabi	ility).				
(WHE	AT) <sup>2</sup> vs Green manures	ND	ND <sup>x</sup>	0.0382	NS <sup>y</sup>	NS	
(WHE	AT) vs VAP	ND	ND	< 0.0001	ND	ND	
Vap vs	Green manures	ND	ND	0.0006	NS	NS	
Contro	l vs COM	ND	NS	NS	0.0004	0.018	
Contro	l vs MUSTmeal	ND	ND	ND	< 0.0001	0.0017	
COM	vs Green manures	ND	ND	ND	0.0022	0.0007	
MUST	meal vs Green manure	ND	ND	ND	0.0004	< 0.0001	

<sup>v</sup> Value are means  $\pm 1$  standard error. Within columns means followed by the same letters are not significantly different (P  $\leq 0.05$ ) according to the Bonferroni's multiple comparison test.

ND

0.0002

0.0332

0.0247

ND

ND 0.0296

ND

0.0014

NS

<sup>w</sup> Treatment significant probability.

<sup>x</sup> ND, no determined.

Mustards vs MUSTmeal

Mustards vs Non-mustards

<sup>y</sup> NS, no significant (P > 0.05).

<sup>2</sup> Control= crop control, COM= compost, MUST<sub>meal</sub>= mustard seed meal, VAP= Vapam, O/PEA= oat/peas mix, CMV= Canada milk vetch, SS2= 2-year sorghumsudangrass, SS1= 1-years sorghum-sudangrass, RYE= fall rye, MUSTor= Oriental mustard, MUSTwh= white mustard, and ALF= alfalfa. (WHEAT)= treatments not established, but planted with spring-wheat; mustards= white and oriental mustard; non-mustards= oat/peas, Canada milk vetch, 1- and 2-years Sorghum-sudangrass, fall rye and alfalfa. After the potato season, the density of propagules in soil increased with all treatments, except for MUSTmeal and COM (Table 2.2). Contrast analyses showed that propagule density was lower with MUSTmeal (P < 0.0001) and COM (P = 0.0004) treatments compared to crop Control. The application of Vapam did not reduce the density of propagules compared to crop Control and green manure treatments. No significant difference was found between RYE, SS2, VAP, and Control treatments, which had the highest densities ranging from 24 to 36 CFU g<sup>-1</sup> soil (Table 2.2).

Propagule density in soil was lower in MUSTmeal and COM plots compared to Control plots (P = 0.0001). Moreover, MUSTmeal plots had fewer CFU g<sup>-1</sup> soil at the end of the potato season compared to plots fumigated with VAP (P < 0.0001) or green manure treatments (P = 0.0004). Contrast analysis showed that COM treatment had significant lower density of propagules in soil compared to green manure treatments (P = 0.0022).

#### 2.4.1.3. Disease Incidence and Severity

Statistical analysis of wilt incidence data revealed significant effects of treatments (P =0.0001). Lowest disease incidence was 13 % and 25 % with MUSTmeal and COM treatments, respectively, and the highest was 93 % with SS2 treatment. Potato plants from plots fumigated with Vapam showed disease incidence levels of approximately 70 % which was not significantly less than in the crop Control treatment. Contrasts analyses showed significant differences between green manure treatments and MUSTmeal (P <0.0001) and COM (P =0.0007) treatments. Contrast analyses also showed significantly lower incidence in MUSTmeal than in Brassicaceae green manure treatments (P

<0.0014). Incidence of Verticillium wilt was not reduced by any of the green manure treatments compared to the Control. Conversely, incidence increased with SS1, SS2, RYE, and ALF treatments (Table 2.2).

No green manure, organic amendment or chemical treatment reduced disease severity, at the lower, middle and upper section of the potato stems, compared to the crop Control (*P* <0.05). Severity as stem discoloration ranged from 11 to 45 %, 1 to 25 %, and less than 1 % for lower, middle and upper potato stem sections, respectively (Appendix II, Table 5.1). No significant difference was observed between treatments for chlorophyll concentration as determined with SPAD meter. Chlorophyll content ranged from 37 to 42 SPAD value (Appendix II, Table 5.1).

### 2.4.1.4. Plant and Soil Assessment

### 2.4.1.4.1. Effects on Soil Properties

In general, organic amendments and green manures promoted significant changes in soil fertility levels and potato yield. MUSTmeal treatment significantly increased NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N (203 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) in soil by approximately 5 fold compared to the Control (P = 0.0001) (Table 2.3). Plant available-P concentration was significantly greater in COM (65 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) than in green manure treatments (P < 0.0001) or any other treatment except for MUSTmeal. MUSTmeal treatment also increased the availability of phosphorus in soil (45 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) compared to green manure treatments (P = 0.0105). Total SO<sub>4</sub><sup>-2</sup>-S concentration was greatest in MUSTmeal and VAP treatments (142 and 139 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively) compared to all other treatments (P = 0.0001) (Table 2.3).

	Treatment	NO3-N	Р	K	$SO_4^{-2}-S$		EC
	Treatment		kg l	na <sup>-1</sup>		- рп	dS m <sup>-1</sup>
	Control	49±6 b <sup>x</sup>	31±2 b	285±9	28±2 b	6.0±0.1	0.19±0.01 b
a (	COM	73±19 b	65±11a	455±81	61±9 b	6.7±0.2	0.35±0.05 ab
	MUSTmeal	203±33 a	45±9 ab	388±74	142±28 a	$5.9 \pm 0.2$	0.52±0.10 a
	VAP	66±17 b	31±3 b	307±8	139±21 a	6.1±0.1	0.27±0.02 ab
	O/PEA	66±9 b	36±2 b	304±10	38±3 b	6.0±0.2	0.19±0.02 b
	CMV	54±10 b	36±4 b	425±84	42±2 b	6.3±0.1	0.20±0.02 b
	SS2	117±17 b	29±2 b	315±18	34±3 b	6.1±0.1	0.22±0.02 b
1 K	SS1	58±11 b	31±3 b	330±35	47±6 b	6.5±0.3	0.34±0.09 ab
	RYE	88±11 b	29±1 b	351±28	36±3 b	6.3±0.2	0.26±0.03 ab
	MUSTor	48±8 b	30±6 b	269±9	54±13 b	6.4±0.2	0.26±0.04 ab
	MUSTwh	57±4 b	31±3 b	300±15	65±13 b	6.0±0.1	0.21±0.02 b
12 x	ALF	116±22 b	38±5 b	363±63	41±5 b	6.6±0.2	0.30±0.03 ab
$P > F^{y}$		0.0001	0.0001	NS	0.0001	NS	0.0016
Selected contrasts (significant probability)							
VAP vs Green manures		NS	NS		< 0.0001		NS
COM vs Green manures		NS	< 0.0001		NS		NS
MUSTmeal vs Green manure		< 0.0001	0.0105		< 0.0001		< 0.0001

Table 2.3. Experiment 1. Water soluble nitrate-N (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N), sodium bicarbonate extractable-P, ammonium acetate extractable-K, water soluble S (SO<sub>4</sub><sup>-2</sup>), pH and electrical conductivity (EC) in the soil following potato harvest, September 2008.

<sup>x</sup> Value are means  $\pm 1$  standard error. Within columns means followed by the same letter are not significantly different (P  $\leq 0.05$ ) according to the Bonferroni's multiple comparison test.

0.0108

NS

< 0.0001

0.0406

< 0.0001

NS

< 0.0001

0.0094

<sup>y</sup> Treatment significant probability.

Mustards vs MUSTmeal Mustards vs Non-mustards<sup>z</sup>

<sup>2</sup> Control= wheat-control, COM= compost, MUST<sub>meal</sub>= mustard seed meal, VAP= Vapam, O/PEA= oat/peas mix, CMV= Canada milk vetch, SS2= 2-year sorghum-sudangrass, SS1= 1-years sorghum-sudangrass, RYE= fall rye, MUSTor= Oriental mustard, MUSTwh= white mustard, and ALF= alfalfa. Mustards= white and oriental mustard; non-mustards= oat/peas mix, Canada milk vetch, 1- and 2-years Sorghum-sudangrass, fall rye and alfalfa.

Increases in plant available nutrients were correlated with Verticillium wilt development. Wilt incidence was significantly and negatively correlated (Pearson correlation analysis) with available-P (r=-0.49 P =0.0004), K (r=-0.42 P =0.0027) and SO<sub>4</sub><sup>-2</sup>-S (r=-0.38 P =0.008). In addition, SO<sub>4</sub><sup>-2</sup>-S was inversely related to propagule density of *V. dahliae* (r=-0.30 P =0.04). The incorporation of green manure and organic amendments into soil had no effect on soil pH (Table 2.3). No significant difference in EC was observed among green manure, COM and the Control treatments (EC ranged from 0.19 to 0.35 dS m<sup>-1</sup>). However, MUSTmeal treatment showed a significant increase (0.52 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) compared to the Control treatment (P =0.0016) (Table 2.3).

### 2.4.1.4.2. Marketable Yield and Tuber Quality

1 Q.,

A significant treatment effect was observed for total bonus and overweight marketable yield (Table 2.4), but not for tuber quality (fry colour, specific gravity and sugar ends of tubers) (Appendix III, Table 5.2).

Treatment			Marketable yie	ld (tonne ha <sup>-1</sup> )	v
	Treatment	Regular	Bonus	Overweight	Total
	Control	$11.0\pm0.9^{W}$	16.1±1.1 ab <sup>y</sup>	3.7±1.3 ab	30.8±1.6b
	COM	10.5±0.9	19.5±2.1 a	8.7±1.8 a	38.7±1.3a
	MUSTmeal	8.9±0.4	14.0±1.3 ab	4.3±0.6 ab	27.2±1.8b
	VAP	13.3±1.0	16.6±1.1 ab	3.2±1.0 ab	33.1±1.6at
	O/PEA	9.5±0.8	16.9±0.8 ab	5.9±1.4 ab	32.3±1.2ab
	CMV	10.9±0.3	15.2±0.9 ab	6.0±1.4 ab	32.0±0.3 at
	SS2	11.7±0.3	11.4±1.2b	2.9±1.6 b	26.0±1.6b
	SS1	11.1±1.3	14.8±1.2 ab	4.9±0.4 ab	30.8±2.3b
	RYE	$11.0\pm0.9$	14.5±1.6 ab	5.6±1.7 ab	31.2±2.6ab
	MUSTor	$11.7 \pm 1.4$	15.5±1.5 ab	3.5±1.0 ab	30.6±1.4b
	MUSTwh	$11.7{\pm}0.8$	15.4±1.1 ab	5.4±0.9 ab	32.6±1.7ał
	ALF	10.1±0.4	15.4±0.9 ab	7.2±0.9 ab	32.6±1.2ał
$P > F^{\mathbf{X}}$		NS	0.0321	0.0365	0.0003
 حام	cted contrasts (signific	ant probability)			
Control	vs Green manures	ant probability)	NS <sup>y</sup>	NS	NS
VADVO	Green manures		NC	NS	NIC

 Table 2.4. Experiment 1. Effect of wheat, green manure, organic amendments and

 Vapam treatment on marketable potato yield.

			1 06 1 = 0
Mustards vs Non-mustards <sup>2</sup>	NS	NS	NS
Mustards vs MUSTmeal	NS	NS	0.0201
MUSTmeal vs Green manure	NS	NS	0.0200
COM vs Green manures	0.0016	0.0072	< 0.0001
VAP vs Green manures	NS	NS	NS
Control vs Green manures	NS <sup>y</sup>	NS	NS
Selected contrasts (significant probability)			

<sup>v</sup> Potato tubers graded into weight categories for marketable yield: regular 86-170 g, bonus 170.1-340 g and overweight >340 g.

<sup>w</sup> Value are means  $\pm$  standard error. Within columns means followed by the same letter are not significantly different ( $P \le 0.05$ ) according to the Bonferroni's multiple comparison test.

<sup>x</sup> Treatment significant probability.

<sup>y</sup> NS, no significant ( $P \ge 0.05$ ).

<sup>2</sup> Control= wheat-control, COM= compost, MUST<sub>meal</sub>= mustard seed meal, VAP= Vapam, O/PEA= oat/peas mix, CMV= Canada milk vetch, SS2= 2-year sorghumsudangrass, SS1= 1-years sorghum-sudangrass, RYE= fall rye, MUSTor= Oriental mustard, MUSTwh= white mustard, and ALF= alfalfa. Mustards= white and oriental mustard; non-mustards= oat/peas mix, Canada milk vetch, 1- and 2-years sorghumsudangrass, fall rye and alfalfa. Total marketable yield of potato cv Russet Burbank in plots amended with COM treatment were 26 and 30 % higher than the crop Control and MUSTmeal treatments (P =0.0003). Contrasts analyses showed that the increase in total marketable yield with COM treatment ranged from 17 to 50% compared to green manure treatments (Table 2.4). Bonus marketable (170.1-360 g weight category), which bring a premium price, increased as a result of COM treatment, with increases ranging from 15 to 72 %, compared to other treatments (Table 2.4).

Contrast analysis indicated that bonus (P = 0.0016) and overweight marketable (P = 0.0072) tuber classes were significantly higher in COM compared to green manure treatments. Total marketable yield was correlated with some disease and soil factors. Marketable yield was inversely associated with incidence of Verticillium wilt (r=-39, P < 0.0063) and positively associated with available-P (r=0.33, P < 0.0221) and K (r=0.32, P < 0.0243). Tuber quality attributes (Green colour, rot damage, hollow heart, specific gravity, sugar end, dark end and fry colour) were not affected by the treatments (Appendix III, Table 5.2.).

### 2.4.2. Experiment 2

#### 2.4.2.1. Effect on Propagule Density and Verticillium Wilt Incidence

The incorporation of green manures into soil did not affect propagule density of *V*. *dahliae* or disease incidence at both study sites (Table 2.5) Nonetheless, a time of sampling effect was observed at the Shilo (P < 0.05) and Miami (P < 0.0001) sites. At the Miami site, differences between treatments were observed at the beginning of the potato

season in April 2008 (P < 0.0001), when the MUSTmix treatment reduced propagule density compared to the Control treatment (Table 2.5). Verticillium wilt incidence was not significantly affected by the treatments.

	Site / potato cv.		Propa	Propagule density (CFU g <sup>-1</sup> soil)				
		Treatment	200	2007		08	2008	
			May	Sept.	April	August	August	
		Control <sup>w</sup>	$52\pm14^{x}$	61±13	58±10	51±3	100±0	
	Shilo /	MUSTmix	45±2	59±13	49±10	43±10	87±11	
	Russet Burbank	O/PEA	$47\pm8$	56±9	$51\pm8$	43±2	93±5	
		SS	49±1	73±21	64±15	49±15	78±10	
		$P > F^{y}$	NS <sup>z</sup>	NS	NS	NS	NS	
		Control	55±5	71±1	68±1 a <sup>z</sup>	73±2	63±6	
	Miomi / Mozart	MUSTmix	54±2	49±1	37±4 b	66±6	55±12	
	Ivitaliii / IviOzalt	O/PEA	57±15	51±10	45±6 ab	58±8	50±10	
		MILLET	67±3	59±2	50±3 ab	53±5	46±9	
		P > F	NS	NS	0.0001	NS	NS	

 Table 2.5. Experiment 2. Effect of wheat and green manure treatments on soil

 propagule density of V. dahliae (CFU g<sup>-1</sup> soil) and Verticillium wilt incidence.

<sup>w</sup> Control= wheat-control, MUSTmix= white and oriental mustard mix, O/PEA= oat/peas mix, SS= sorghum-sudangrass, and MILLET= pearl millet.

<sup>x</sup> Value are means  $\pm 1$  standard error. Within columns means followed by the same letter are not significantly different (P  $\leq 0.05$ ) according to the Bonferroni's multiple comparison test.

<sup>y</sup> Treatment significant probability.

<sup>z</sup> NS, no significant (P > 0.05).

### 2.4.2.2. Effect on Potato Marketable Yield and Tuber Quality

At both sites, yield of potato was generally unaffected by crop Control and green manure treatments. However, at the Shilo site, the SS treatment increased regular marketable yield by 50% compared to Control treatment (P < 0.02914) (Table 2.6).

Location /	Treatments	Yield (tonne ha <sup>-1</sup> ) <sup>v</sup>				
potato cv	Treatments	Underweight	Regular	Overweight		
Shilo /	Control <sup>w</sup>	$9.2 \pm 1.0^{x}$	20.0±2.4 a <sup>x</sup>	4.7±1.4		
Russet	MUSTmix	13.2±1.0	28.3±0.7 ab	2.4±1.1		
Burbank	O/PEA	12.4±0.6	28.3±3.2 ab	$2.5 \pm 0.7$		
	SS	20.2±4.2	30.0±1.1 b	2.0±0.9		
<u></u>	$P > F^{y}$	NS <sup>z</sup>	0.0291	NS		
		Small	Medium	Overweight		
	Control	29.3±3.8	4.2±1.8	0±0		
Miami /	MUSTmix	$31.6 \pm 2.4$	$5.2 \pm 2.1$	$0.1 \pm 0.1$		
Mozart	O/PEA	$30.5 \pm 0.8$	5.4±1.2	$0.4{\pm}0.4$		
	MILLET	32.0±2.9	7.5±0.7	0±0		
	P > F	NS	NS	NS		

 Table 2.6.
 Experiment 2.
 Effect of wheat and green manure treatments on

 Verticillium wilt incidence and marketable yield of potato.

<sup>v</sup> Potato tubers graded into size categories for cv Russet Burbank: undersize 45 mm, marketable 45-51mm and 51 mm diameter; and tuber size categories for table potato cv Mozart: small <55 mm, medium 55.1-88 mm and oversize >88 mm.

<sup>w</sup> Control= wheat-control, MUSTmix= white and oriental mustard mix, O/PEA= oat/peas mix, SS= sorghum-sudangrass, and MILLET= pearl millet.

<sup>x</sup> Value are means  $\pm 1$  standard error. Means followed by the same letters within each site and yield category are not significantly different (P  $\leq 0.05$ ) according to the Bonferroni's multiple comparison test.

<sup>y</sup> Treatment significant probability.

<sup>z</sup> NS, no significant (P > 0.05).

### 2.5. Discussion

Green manure, and organic amendments such as compost and mustard seed meals have been proposed as alternative method to chemical control of soil-borne plant pathogens (Janvier et al. 2007). These strategies aim to prevent or decrease the development of disease problems caused by soil-borne pathogens, by the provision of soil conditions that are optimal for crop growth and unsuitable for pathogen survival (Litterick et al. 2004). In this research, a variety of green manure crops and organic amendments, such as mustard seed meal and composted beef cattle manure, were assessed for their ability to kill *V. dahliae* microsclerotia, to reduce Verticillium wilt incidence and ultimately, to increase potato yield.

#### 2.5.1. Survival of V. dahliae Microsclerotia.

VAP and MUSTmeal were the most effective treatments reducing germination of microsclerotia within one week after incorporation. The efficacy of the soil fumigant to reduce germination of *V. dalhiae* in soil planted to potato has been reported by Fravel (1996). The effect of Vapam on microsclerotia has been also correlated with decreased growth rates and reduced pathogenicity of *V. dahliae* (Engelkes and Fravel 1997). The efficacy of Vapam reducing germination of microsclerotia depends on its conversion in the soil to very active and toxic ITCs compounds. In moist soil, Vapam decomposes rapidly to methyl-isothiocyanate (methyl-ITC), which constitutes 90% of the conversion products in soil (Leistra et al. 1974).

The suppressive activity of the MUSTmeal treatment may be associated with the presence of glucosinolate hydrolysis products. The partially deoiled mustard seed meal used contained sinigrin glucosinolate, which decomposes into 2-propenyl isothiocyanate (2-propenyl-ITC). One of the most biologically active forms of ITCs, 2-propeney-ITC has been shown to kill soil pathogens like *V. dahliae* (Olivier et al. 1999). Although MUSTmeal treatment reduced the germination of microsclerotia 1 week after incorporation, the germination increased 30% 2 weeks later.

This results suggest that fungitoxicity of ITCs could be induced by increasing concentration or exposure time of microsclerotia to ITCs. When the microsclerotia were recovered from soil and taken to the laboratory for growth on selective media, it was expected that the media would contain all necessary requirements to stimulate cell growth. However, it is common that some organisms weakened by sublethal treatments remain viable but not culturable, which means that some cells will require special stimuli to return to the culturable state (Weichart and Kjelleberg 1996). This condition is often observed in injured organisms, which fail to grow under selective isolation conditions. However, when injured organisms are removed from the sublethal conditions, the microorganisms restore their ability to grow in culture (Weichart and Kjelleberg 1996). For example, exposure of microsclerotia to sublethal concentrations of liquid swine manure (LSM) or volatile fatty acids (VFA) (Tenuta et al. 2002), NH<sub>3</sub> and HNO<sub>2</sub> (Tenuta and Lazarovits 2002b, 2004) followed by immediate plating onto germination medium resulted in a lower germination of microsclerotia. However, placement of the microsclerotia in soil free of LSM, VFA, NH<sub>3</sub> or HNO<sub>2</sub> for about seven days allows them to recover from the presumed stress of sublethal concentrations, resulting in a moderate rebound of germination of microsclerotia upon retrieval.

The findings reported here provide evidence that exposure to sublethal concentrations of ITC sufficiently weaken microsclerotia that they do not germinate on selective media. Once the ITC concentration dissipated in soil, microsclerotia regained attributes to tolerate placement onto plate medium and grow. Similar results were suggested by Smolinska et al (2003) who found that *F. oxisporum* isolates exposed to low

51

concentrations of pure 2-propeny-ITC (0.3  $\mu$ l) for 24 h did not grow on plate medium until the medium was cleared of ITCs.

MUSTwh, MUSTor and O/PEA treatments inhibited germination of microsclerotia to 60% of the control. These results suggest that these green manures show some promise as a means to reduce V. dahliae propagule pressure in soil. Reduction of germination of artificially produced microsclerotia has been observed with several green manures (Lopez-Escudero et al. 2007). Brassicaceae green manure crops have been recently used to reduce soil populations of V. dahliae and incidence of Verticillium wilt in potato (Rowe and Powelson 2002) due to the release of fungicidal compounds during the hydrolysis of glucosinolates, most reported, ITCs. The efficacy of Brassicaceae green manures to kill the pathogen depends on the concentration ITC released from the plant material (shoot tissue, roots or seed meal) (Olivier et al. 1999). Although concentration of glucosinolates in plant shoot is higher at the start of flowering and declines at seed filling and end of flowering (Sarwar and Kirkergaard 1998), the concentration is usually much higher in seed (26 mg  $g^{-1}$ ) than in other part of the plant (5.3 mg  $g^{-1}$ ) (Zrybko et al. 1997). High concentration of ITC in soil is expected in soils where high glucosinolatecontaining tissues are added (Morra and Kirkegaard 2002). However, the most important factor limiting ITC concentration in soil is thus not glucosinolate concentration in the amendment itself, but release from the amendment to the soil. High release of ITC in soil occurs when cell membranes are broken (Gimsing and Kirkegaard 2009). The level of physical disruption necessary to maximize ITC is generally impossible with green manure crops (Matthiessen and Kirkegaard 2006). However, such a limitation does not

exist when using seed meal amendments since the seed crushing procedure has resulted in extensive cellular disruption (Brown and Morra 2005). Therefore, the concentration of ITCs released by the mustard seed meal may be 10 times higher than from intact vegetative plant tissue (roots and aerial parts) (Kirkegaard et al. 1996; Brown and Morra 2005). Therefore, we can hypothesize that the higher concentration of ITCs released by the MUSTmeal was responsible for greater inhibition of germination of *V. dahlie* microsclerotia in soil.

Fungitoxic compounds other than ITCs also likely contribute to lowering of germination of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia. Oat/pea green manure may reduce propagule density of soilborne plant pathogens in potato by releasing fungitoxic compounds such as avenacin, saponins and civine. Avenacin and saponins are fungitoxic compounds released from oat tissue whereas civine is found in pea tissue (Pavlík et al. 2002; Wiggins and Kinkel 2005b). Those compounds can produce lysis and inhibition of germination of soil-borne pathogens (Deacon and Mitchell 1985; Pavlík et al. 2002).

### 2.5.2. Reduction of Propagule Density and Verticillium Wilt.

In general, green manure crops did not reduce the germination of microsclerotia or propagule density of *V. dahliae*, compared to the Control. In experiment 2, green manure treatments did not reduce propagule density or Verticillium wilt incidence. In fact, some green manure treatments such as RYE and SS2 increased propagule density and Verticillium wilt incidence. The lack of effect of the green manure treatments to reduce

propagule density of *V. dahliae* and Verticillium wilt incidence may be due to several issues. Factors such as number of green manure cycles (Rowe and Powelson 2002) or insufficient physical disruption of plant tissue during plow down that lead to low released of toxic compounds (Morra and Kirkegaard 2002). These factors are relatively important on long-term survival structures of plant pathogens in soil, particularly, microsclerotia of *V. dahliae*, which are the major means of soil survival for this pathogen (Rowe and Powelson 2002).

These results are consistent with those of Davis et al. (1996) who found that one or two consecutive years of sudangrass, oat, rye, or corn green manure did not reduce Verticillium wilt incidence in potato. Green manure crops can reduce density of propagules in soil and Verticillium wilt incidence in potato (Lopez-Escudero et al. 2007; Ochiai et al. 2008). However, reduction of Verticillium wilt of potato with green manure requires more than two consecutive years of incorporation (Davis et al. 1996; Rowe and Powelson 2002).

Several mechanisms other than ITCs could be responsible for reducing Verticillium wilt. Green manure can also release toxic compound like hydrogen cyanide (HCN) (Widmer and Abawi 2000), that can be toxic to specific organisms, such as nematodes. LaMondia (1999) suggest that one or two year of green manure might reduce Verticillium wilt in soils where the disease is greatly increased by co-infection of *V. dahliae* and the root lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus penetrans* by reducing populations of the nematode. Several other studies have shown that short periods of green manure are effective against nematodes. Sorghum-sudangrass has been effective to prevent damage of plants by the nematode *Meloidogyne* spp (Mojtahedi et al. 1993). Wiggins and Kinkel (2005a) found that HCN was the primary factor responsible for the suppression of *M. hapla* with one year of sorghum-sudangrass green manure. The root lesion nematode *Pratylenchus neglectus* was killed in a shot-term greenhouse study by Brassicaceae green manure (Potter et al. 1998).

Although microsclerotia partially restored their ability to germinate three weeks after incorporation of MUSTmeal, germination was reduced by 50%. Moreover, Verticillium wilt incidence and propagule density of *V. dahliae* were effectively reduced by MUSTmeal. It can be hypothesized that glucosinolate hydrolysis products could reduce germination of microsclerotia, as well as *V. dahliae* propagule concentration in soil. Soil pathogen suppression using seed meal has been attributed to the toxicity of glucosinolate hydrolysis products (Brown and Morra 1997). However, the mechanisms by which Brassicaceae green manure and seed meals may suppress soil-borne pathogens are varied and often unknown (Wiggins and Kinkel 2005a). MUSTmeal might reduce propagule density indirectly by influencing indigenous microbial population through the compounds released directly from the meal upon addition or during its decomposition. For example, Njoroge et al. (2008) detected ITCs in amended soil with Brassicaceae materials and observed increased population densities of fluorecent pseudomonads, an antifungal bacteria antagonist against *V. dahliae* (Pegg and Brady 2002).

Incorporation of Brassicaceae seed meals significantly increase populations of *Streptomyces* spp (Cohen et al. 2005), which, are associated with reduction of *V. dahliae* (Krechel et al. 2002). The antagonistic effect of *Streptomyces* spp. on soil pathogens has been attributed to their release of antibiotics and other secondary metabolites (Cohen et al. 2005). This mechanism of control could explain the consistent reduction of propagule density observed before and after the potato season in plots amended with mustard seed meal.

The application of Vapam reduced propagule density of *V. dahliae* at the beginning of the potato season in 2008. However, severe incidence of Verticillium was observed on potato, as well as an increased number of propagules after the potato harvest with Vapam treatment. The biocidal activity of Vapam is provide by methyl isothiocyanate (methyl-ITC) (Gerstl et al. 1977), a very active ITC with high vapor pressure (16.0 mmHg at 20°C), and thereby elevated potential for volatilization (Zheng et al. 2006). This suggests that even with a higher application rate (762 L ha<sup>-1</sup>) than those being used in potato for control of Verticillium wilt at 600 L ha<sup>-1</sup> (Tsror et al. 2005), the Vapam treatment was not effective for pathogen control. The lack of effectivity is possibly due to the volatilization loss of methyl-ITC in the upper soil profile, where a large amount of wheat residues (Figure 2.3), may prevent proper sealing of the soil, therefore methyl-ITCs could escape to the atmosphere. Ideal conditions for effective control of pathogens due optimum distribution of methyl-ITC in soil, is rarely achieved with current application practices (Duniway 2002).

Composted materials have been effective for reducing Verticillium wilt of potato in previous (Entry et al. 2005). In this study, composted cattle manure reduced incidence of Verticillium wilt and maintained low propagule density of V. dahliae in soil. Organic soil amendments might be responsible for changes in soil properties that may disrupt the ability of V. dahliae to recognize a potential host, propagules to germinate, grow, or colonize a host (Ochiai et al. 2008). Davis et al. (1990) suggested that reduction of Verticillium wilt may be mediated by improved soil fertility, particularly by optimum available phosphorus is came in soil. Compost can improve plant health due to increased soil nutrient concentration and improvement of soil physiochemical properties (Corti et al. 1998). Composted soil amendments can build a pathogen suppressive soil environment, where biological control of soil-borne pathogens is promoted through antagonism, microbial competition, hyperparasitism and antibiosis (Hoitink and Fahy 1986). Kuter et al. (1983) reported reduction of propagule density of R. solani in soil amended with composted cattle manure due to enhanced activity of antagonistic microorganism populations.

Biological control of plant pathogens has been observed in several studies (Noble and Coventry 2005). Baker (1987) describes biological control as "the action of parasites, predators, or pathogens in maintaining another organism's population at a lower average than would occur in their absence". A similar definition is used to describe suppressive soils, in which disease development is minimal even in the presence of a pathogen and susceptible host (Mazzola 2007). In this context, composts based on cattle manure or in combination with plant residues have been used effectively to develop soil

suppressiveness in potting medium (Hoitink et al. 1977; Gorodecki and Hadar 1990; Yogey et al. 2009).

This result suggests that reduction of Verticillium wilt incidence is not necessarily dependent of reduction of propagule density of *V. dahliae*. This agrees with the findings of others that Verticillium wilt may be controlled without reducing the number of propagules in soil (Davis et al. 1999; Ochiai et al. 2007). Thus, reduction of Verticillium wilt of potato may be linked with other mechanism, in addiction to reduction of propagule density. Ochiai et al. (2007) suggested that low pH and high total organic carbon may be related to reduction of Verticillium wilt severity.

# 2.5.3. Effect on Soil Properties and Potato Marketable Yield.

Potato systems in which green manures, animal manure, composts, or any types of organic amendment have been applied to soil can improve soil nutrient availability, soil tilth, water holding capacity and plant health (LaMondia et al. 1999; Stark and Porter 2005). In this study, composted cattle manure significantly increased marketable potato yield, and neither VAP nor any of the green manure treatments resulted in improvement of marketable yield compared with the crop Control treatment. In addition, only the COM treatment yield (38.7 tonnes ha<sup>-1</sup>) was higher than the crop Control treatment (30.8 tonnes ha<sup>-1</sup>). This increment represents a significant improve of potato yield if comparing to the production average for Manitoba (31.4 tonnes ha<sup>-1</sup>) (Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada 2007).
The lack of significant impact of SS1, SS2, RYE, and MUSTor treatments in Experiment 1, and O/PEA, and MUSTmix treatments in Experiment 2, on yield of potato might be explained by the high Verticillium wilt incidence at the study sites. However, factors other than high Verticillium wilt pressure also likely contributed to lowering of potato yield. In this study, not all treatments which significantly reduced disease incidence and number of propagules in the soil resulted in increased potato yield. Despite the reduced germination of microsclerotia and reduced density of propagules in soil, the MUSTmeal treatment did not increase potato yield. Incorporation of the mustard seed meal led to significantly higher concentration of N in soil (203 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>), but did not significantly increase extractable P concentration. Mazzola et al (2007) documented that mustard seed meal usually contains from 5.5 to 6.8 % nitrogen. Therefore, mustard meal added at 9000 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> added approximately 281 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. In this study, this N content of oriental mustard seed meal was not taken into account to reduce fertilizer application rates. This additional nitrogen from the seed meal added with the MUSTmeal treatment could have led to more vegetative growth and less tuber development. Adequate management of N is critical for optimal potato yield (Sincik et al. 2008), whereas excessive available N in soil results in reduced yields (Lauer 1986; Neeteson and Zwetsloot 1989).

Soil amendment with composted materials also delays decline of photosynthesis in leaves that expand early in the season, increasing the number of leaves and leaf area (Gent et al. 1999) and ultimately, reducing yield losses caused by Verticillium wilt (LaMondia et al. 1999). By this mechanism compost may help potato to defend against the detrimental effect of Verticillium wilt, which is believed to decrease leaf surface area as well as photosynthesis of the plant and ultimately, the supply of assimilates required for later tuber bulking growth (Bowden and Rouse 1991). Improvement in soil fertility N, P, K by application of composted materials have been responsible for increase in tuber initiation over tuber bulking, with more tubers per plant, although considerable more tubers also reached marketable size (>100g) (Sillitoe 1996).

Disease suppression by compost is associated with increased microbial activity as well as changes in concentration of N, P, Ca, and soil organic matter of treated soils (Hoitink and Fahy 1986). In potato fields of Manitoba, increased soil organic matter has been associated with reduction of Verticillium wilt incidence (Briar et al. in preparation; Tenuta et al. in preparation). Compost amendments are a source of organic carbon, and when added to the soil should increase soil organic carbon (Zinati et al. 2001; Magdoff and Weil 2004). In this study, the carbon applied with composted beef cattle manure was equivalent to an addition of 1.4% of total soil mass, which is enough to reduce Verticillium wilt according to previous work of Tenuta et al. (in preparation). The increase of soil organic matter serves as a source of carbon and energy for microorganisms (Weil and Magdoff 2004), and consequently, reduces propagule density due to parasitism, predation and competition for nutrients and carbon resources by beneficial soil microorganisms (Hoitink and Fahy 1986). Soil organic matter is also a major source of plant nutrients, such as N and P (Weil and Magdoff 2004). Optimum nutrient (NPK) availability for potato yield is also associated with reduced Verticillium wilt incidence (Lambert et al. 2005).

## 2.6. Conclusions.

One or two years of green manure seems to be ineffective in reducing Verticillium wilt of potato. However, the results of this study suggest that oriental mustard, white mustard and oat/peas mix green manure have potential to reduce germination of *V. dahliae* and soil propagule density. Therefore, multiple years of green manure may be needed to reduce Verticillium wilt in potato field of Manitoba.

Addition of oriental mustard seed meal has the potential to be an important part of Verticillium wilt management programs. Results of this study suggest that oriental mustard seed meal amendments have promise as an alternative strategy for the control of Verticillium wilt of potato, as well as a potential source of N to crops. The role of mustard seed meal in nutrient management programs needs further investigation for growers who seek a nonchemical alternative to fumigation. However, critical issues remain which must be addressed before mustard seed meal can be considered a viable option. For example, the rates used in this study would be economically unaffordable for potato producers; therefore, it is necessary to investigate whether lower application rates can achieve the desired control of disease.

The findings of this study indicate that incorporation of composted beef cattle manure to potato fields planted to the susceptible cv Russet Burbank increases potato yield, reduces Verticillium wilt incidence, and improves nutrient availability. The mechanism responsible for the reduction of Verticillium wilt incidence was not examined here; however, it is hypothesized that improvement of nutrient availability and SOM is possibly involved. Further examination of the factors controlling the suppressive activity

of compost against Verticillium wilt of potato is required.

## 2.7. Literature Cited.

- Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada. (2007). Canadian Potato Situation and Trends 2006-2007. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.
- Baker, K. F. (1987). Evolving concepts of biological control of plant pathogens. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*. 25: 67-85.
- Blok, W. J., Lamers, J. G., Termorshuizen, A. J., and Bollen, G. J. (2000). Control of soilborne plant pathogens by incorporating fresh organic amendments followed by tarping. *Phytopathology*. *90*: 253-259.
- Bowden, R. L., and Rouse, D. I. (1991). Effects of *Verticillium dahliae* on gas exchange of potato. *Phytopathology*. 81: 293-301.
- Brown, J., and Morra, M. J. (2005) *Glucosinolate-containing Seed Meal as a Soil Amendment to Control Plant Pests 2000-2002.* Subcontract Report NREL/SR-510-35254 (pp. 99). University of Idaho, Moscow, ID.
- Brown, P. D., and Morra, M. J. (1997). Control of soil-borne plant pests using glucosinolate-containing plants. *Advances in Agronomy*. 61: 167-231.

Cohen, M. F., Yamasaki, H., and Mazzola, M. (2005). *Brassica napus* seed meal soil amendment modifies microbial community structure, nitric oxide production and incidence of Rhizoctonia root rot. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. 37: 1215-1227.

- Collins, H. P., Alva, A., Boydston, R. A., Cochran, R. L., Hamm, P. B., McGuire, A., et al. (2005). Soil microbial, fungal, and nematode responses to soil fumigation and cover crops under potato production. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*. 42: 247-257.
- **Conn, K. L., and Lazarovits, G.** (1999). Impact of animal manures on Verticillium wilt, potato scab, and soil microbial populations. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*. 21: 81-92.
- Corti, C., Crippa, L., Geneveni, P. L., and Centemero, M. (1998). Compost use in plant nurseries: hydrological and physicochemical characteristics. *Compost Science and Utilization*. 6: 35-45.

- Davis, J. R., Huisman, O. C., Everson, D. O., Sorensen, L. H., and Schneider, A. (1999). Control of Verticillium wilt of the Russet Burbank potato with corn and barley. (Abstr.). American Journal of Potato Research. 76: 367.
- Davis, J. R., Huisman, O. C., Westermann, D. T., Hafez, S. L., Everson, D. O.,
  Sorensen, L. H., et al. (1996). Effects of green manures on Verticillium wilt of potato. *Phytopathology*. 86: 444-453.
- Davis, J. R., Sorensen, L. H., Stark, J. C., and Westermann, D. T. (1990). Fertility and management practices to control Verticillium wilt of the Russet Burbank potato. *American Journal of Potato Research*. 67: 55-65.
- **Deacon, J. W., and Mitchell, R. T.** (1985). Toxicity of oat roots, oat root extracts, and saponins to zoospores of *Pythium* spp. and other fungi. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*. 84: 479-487.

**Duniway, J. M.** (2002). Status of chemical alternatives to methyl bromide for pre-plant fumigation of soil. *Phytopathology*. 92: 1337-1343.

- Easton, G. D., Nagle, M. E., and Seymour, M. D. (1992). Potato production and incidence of *Verticillium dahliae* following rotation to nonhost crops and soil fumigation in the state of Washington. *American Journal of Potato Research*. 69: 489-502.
- Engelkes, C. A., and Fravel, D. R. (1997). Procedure for electrophoretic analysis of proteins from metham sodium-treated microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae*. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 30: 669-672.
- Entry, J. A., Strausbaugh, C. A., and Sojka, R. E. (2005). Compost amendments decrease *Verticillium dahliae* on potato. *Compost Science and Utilization*. 13: 43-49.
- **Fravel, D. R.** (1996). Interaction of biocontrol fungi with sublethal rates of metam sodium for control of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Crop Protection*. 15: 115-119.
- Gent, M. P. N., LaMondia, J. A., Ferrandino, F. J., Elmer, W. H., and Stoner, K. A. (1999). The influence of compost amendment or straw mulch on the reduction of gas exchange in potato by *Verticillium dahliae* and *Pratylenchus penetrans*. *Plant Disease*. 83: 371-376.
- Gerstl, Z., Mingelgrin, U., and Yaron, B. (1977). Behavior of Vapam and methylisothiocyanate in soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 41: 545-548.
- Gimsing, A. L., and Kirkegaard, J. A. (2009). Glucosinolates and biofumigation: fate of glucosinolates and their hydrolysis in soil. [Review]. *Phytochemistry Review*. 8: 299-310.

- Gorodecki, B., and Hadar, Y. (1990). Suppression of *Rhizoctonia solani* and *Sclerotium rolfsii* diseases in container media containing composted separated cattle manure and composted grape marc. *Crop Protection. 9*: 271-274.
- Hawke, M. A., and Lazarovits, G. (1994). Production and manipulation of individual microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae* for use in studies of survival. *Phytopathology*. 84: 883-890.
- Hoitink, H. A. J., and Fahy, P. C. (1986). Basis for the control of soilborne plant pathogens with compost. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*. 24: 93-114.
- Hoitink, H. A. J., Vandoren, D. M., and Scmithenner, A. F. (1977). Suppression of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in a composted hardwood bark potting medium. *Phytopathology*. 67: 561-565.
- Huisman, O. C., and Ashworth, L. J. (1976). Influence of crop rotation on the survival of *Verticillium albo-atrum* in soils. *Phytopathology*. 66: 978-981.
- Janvier, C., Villeneuve, F., Alabouvette, C., Edel-Hermann, V., Mateille, T., and Steinberg, C. (2007). Soil health through soil disease suppression: which strategy from descriptors to indicators? *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. 39: 1-23.
- Joaquin, T. R., Smith, V. L., and Rowe, R. C. (1988). Seasonal variation and effects of wheat rotation on populations of *Verticillium dahliae* Kleb. in Ohio potato field soils. *American Potato Journal*. 65: 439-447.
- Kirkegaard, J. A., Wong, P. T. W., and Desmarchelier, J. M. (1996). In vitro suppression of fungal pathogens of cereals by Brassica tissues. *Plant Pathology*. 45: 593-603.
- Krechel, A., Faupel, A., Hallmann, J., Ulrich, A., and Berg, G. (2002). Potatoassociated bacteria and their antagonistic potential towards plant-pathogenic fungi and the plant-parasitic nematode *Meloidogyne incognita* (Kofoid & White) Chitwood. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*. 48: 772-786.
- Kuter, G. A., Nelson, E. B., and Hoitink, H. A. J. (1983). Effects of fungal antagonists and compost age on suppression of Rhizoctonia damping-off in container media amended with composted hardwood bark. *Phytopathology*. 73: 1457-1462.
- Lacy, M. L., and Horner, C. E. (1966). Behavior of *Verticillium dahliae* in the rhizosphere and on roots of plants susceptible, resistant, and immune to wilt. *Phytopathology*. 56: 427-430.
- Lambert, D. H., Powelson, M. L., and Stevenson, W. R. (2005). Nutritional interactions influencing diseases of potato. *American Journal of Potato Research*. 82: 309-319.

- LaMondia, J. A., Ferrandino, F. J., Elmer, W. H., and Stoner, K. A. (1999). Effect of compost amendment or straw mulch on Potato Early Dying disease. *Plant Disease*. 83: 361-366.
- Lauer, D. A. (1986). Russet Burbank yield response to sprinkler-applied nitrogen fertilizer. *American Potato Journal*. 63: 61-69.
- Leistra, M., Smelt, J. M., and Nollen, H. M. (1974). Concentration relation for methylisothiocyanate in soil after injection of metam-sodium. *Pesticide Science* 5: 409-417.
- Litterick, A. M., Harrier, L., Wallace, P., Watson, C. A., and Wood, M. (2004). The role of uncomposted materials, composts, manures, and compost extracts in reducing pest and disease incidence and severity in sustainable temperate agricultural and horticultural crop production- A review. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*. 23(6): 453-479.
- Lockwood, J. L. (1988). Evolution of concepts associated with soilborne plant pathogens. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*. 26: 93-121.
- Lopez-Escudero, F. J., Mwanza, C., and Blanco-Lopez, M. A. (2007). Reduction of *Verticillium dahliae* microsclerotia viability in soil by dried plant residues. *Crop Protection. 26*: 127-133.
- Magdoff, F., and Weil, R. R. (2004). Soil organic matter management strategies. In F. Magdoff & R. R. Weil (Eds.), *Soil Organic Matter in Sustainable Agriculture* (pp. 45-66). CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

- Matthiessen, J. N., and Kirkegaard, J. A. (2006). Biofumigation and enhanced biodegradation: opportunity and challenge in soilborne pest and disease management. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*. 25: 235-265.
- Mazzola, M. (2007). Manipulation of rhizosphere bacterial communities to induce suppressive soils. *Journal of Nematology*. 39: 213-220.
- Mazzola, M., Brown, J., Izzo, A. D., and Cohen, M. F. (2007). Mechanism of action and efficacy of seed meal induced pathogen suppression differ in a Brassicaceae species and time dependent manner. *Phytopathology*. 97: 454-460.
- Mojtahedi, H., Santo, G. S., and Ingham, R. E. (1993). Suppression of *Meloidogyne* chitwoodi with Sudan grass cultivars as green manure. Journal of Nematology. 25: 303-311.
- Mol, L., and Scholte, K. (1995). Formation of microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae* Kleb. on various plant parts of two potato cultivars. *Potato Research.* 38: 143-150.

- Mol, L., Van Halteren, J. M., Scholte, K., and Struik, P. C. (1996). Effects of crop species, crop cultivars and isolates of *Verticillium dahliae* on the population of microsclerotia in the soil, and consequences for crop yield. *Plant Pathology*. 45: 205-214.
- Morra, M. J., and Kirkegaard, J. A. (2002). Isothiocyanate release from soilincorporated Brassica tissues. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 34: 1683-1690.
- Neeteson, J. J., and Zwetsloot, H. J. C. (1989). An analysis of the response of sugarbeet and potatoes to fertilizer nitrogen and soil mineral nitrogen. *Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science*. 37: 129-141.
- Nicot, P. C., and Rouse, D. I. (1987). Relationship between soil inoculum density of *Verticillium dahliae* and systemic colonization of potato stems in commercial fields over time. *Phytopathology*. 77: 1646-1355.
- Njoroge, S. M. C., Riley, M. B., and Keinath, A. P. (2008). Effect of incorporation of *Brassica* spp. residues on population densities of soilborne microorganisms and on damping-off and Fusarium wilt of watermelon. *Plant Disease*. 92: 287-294.
- Noble, R., and Coventry, E. (2005). Suppression of soil-borne diseases with composts: a review. *Biocontrol Science and Technology*. 15: 3-20.
- Ochiai, N., Powelson, M. L., Crowe, F. J., and Dick, R. P. (2008). Green manure effects on soil quality in relation to suppression of Verticillium wilt of potatoes. *Biology and Fertility of Soils.* 44: 1013-1023.
- Ochiai, N., Powelson, M. L., Dick, R. P., and Crowe, F. J. (2007). Effects of green manure type and amend rate on Verticillium wilt severity and yield of Russet Burbank potato. *Plant Disease*. 91: 400-406.

Olivier, C., Vaughn, S. F., Mizubuti, E. S. G., and Loria, R. (1999). Variation in allyl isothiocyanate production within Brassica species and correlation with fungicidal activity. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*. 25: 2687-2701.

Pavlík, M., Váňová, M., Laudová, V., and Harmatha, J. (2002). Fungitoxicity of natural heterocycle glucoside vicine obtained glucoside vicine obtained from *Vicia faba* L. against selected microscopic filamentous fungi. *Rostlinná výroba*. 48: 543-547.

Pegg, G. F., and Brady, B. L. (2002). Verticillium wilts. CAB International, New York.

Potter, M. J., Davies, K., and Rathjen, A. J. (1998). Suppressive impact of glucosinolates in *Brassica* vegetative tissue on root lesion nematode *Pratylenchus* neglectus. Journal of Chemical Ecology. 24: 67-80.

Powelson, M. L., and Rowe, R. C. (1993). Biology and management of Early Dying of Potatoes. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*. 31: 111-126.

Rowe, R. C., and Powelson, M. L. (2002). Potato Early Dying: management challenges in a changing production environment. *Plant Disease*. 86: 1184-1193.

- Sarwar, M., and Kirkergaard, J. A. (1998). Biofumigation potential of brassicas II. Effect of environment and ontogeny on glucosinolate production and implications for screening. *Plant and Soil. 201* 91-101.
- Schnathorst, W. C. (1981). Life cycle and epidemiology of Verticillium. In M. E. Mace, A. A. Bell & C. H. Beckman (Eds.), *Fungal Wilt Diseases of Plants* (pp. 81-111). Academic Press, New York.
- Sillitoe, P. (1996). A place against time: land and environment in the Papua New Guinea highlands. Hardwood Academic Publishers, Amsterdam.
- Sincik, M., Turan, Z. M., and Goksoy, A. T. (2008). Responses of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) to green manure cover crops and nitrogen fertilization rates. American Journal of Potato Research. 85: 150-158.
- Smolinska, U., Morra, M. J., Knudsen, G. R., and James, R. L. (2003). Isothiocyanates produced by Brassicaceae species as inhibitors of *Fusarium* oxysporum. Plant Disease. 87: 407-412.
- Soltani, N., Conn, K. L., Abbasi, P. A., and Lazarovits, G. (2002). Reduction of potato scab and Verticillium wilt with ammonium lignosulfonate soil amendment in four Ontario potato fields. *Canadian Journal Plant Pathology*. 24: 332-339.
- Sorensen, L. H., Scheneider, A. T., and Davis, J. R. (1991). Influence of sodium polygalacturonate sources and improved recovery of *Verticillium* species from soil. (Abstr.). *Phytopathology*. 81: 1347.
- Stark, J. C., and Porter, G. A. (2005). Potato nutrient management in sustainable cropping systems. *American Journal of Potato Research*. 82: 329-338.
- Tenuta, M., Conn, K. L., and Lazarovits, G. (2002). Volatile fatty acids in liquid swine manure can kill microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Phytopathology*. 92: 548-552.
- Tenuta, M., and Lazarovits, G. (2002a). Identification of specific soil properties that affect the accumulation and toxicity of ammonia to *Verticillium dahliae*. *Canadian Journal Plant Pathology*. 24: 219-229.
- Tenuta, M., and Lazarovits, G. (2002b). Ammonia and nitrous acid from nitrogenous amendments kill the microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Phytopathology*. 92: 255-264.
- **Tenuta, M., and Lazarovits, G.** (2004). Soil properties associated with the variable effectiveness of meat and bone meal to kill microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Applied Soil Ecology*. 25: 219-236.

- Termorshuizen, A. J., van Rijn, E., van der Gaag, D. J., Alabouvette, C., Chen, Y., Lagerlof, J., et al. (2006). Suppressiveness of 18 composts against 7 pathosystems: Variability in pathogen response. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 38: 2461-2477.
- Tsror, L., Shlevin, E., and Peretz-Alon, I. (2005). Efficacy of metam sodium for controlling *Verticillium dahliae* prior to potato production in sandy soils. *American Journal of Potato Research*. 82: 419-423.
- Uppal, A. K., El Hadrami, A., Adam, L. R., Tenuta, M., and Daayf, F. (2007). Pathogenic variability of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates from potato fields in Manitoba and screening of bacteria for their biocontrol. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology. 29*: 141-152.
- Uppal, A. K., El Hadrami, A., Adam, L. R., Tenuta, M., and Daayf, F. (2008). Biological control of potato Verticillium wilt under controlled and field conditions using selected bacterial antagonists and plant extracts. *Biological Control.* 44: 90-100.
- Weichart, D., and Kjelleberg, S. (1996). Stress resistance and recovery potential of culturable and viable but nonculturable cells of *Vibrio vulnificus*. *Microbiology*. *142*: 845-853.
- Weil, R. R., and Magdoff, F. (2004). Significance of soil organic matter to soil quality and health. In F. Magdoff & R. R. Weil (Eds.), *Soil Organic Matter in Sustainable Agriculture* (pp. 1-43). CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Widmer, T. L., and Abawi, G. S. (2000). Mechanism of suppression of *Meloidogyne hapla* and its damage by a green manure of sudan grass. *Plant Disease*. 84: 562-568.
- Wiggins, B. E., and Kinkel, L. L. (2005a). Green manure and crop sequences influence alfalfa root rot and pathogen inhibitory activity among soil-borne streptomycetes. *Plant and Soil. 268*: 271-283.
- Wiggins, B. E., and Kinkel, L. L. (2005b). Green manure and crop sequences influence potato diseases and pathogen inhibitory activity of indigenous Streptomycetes. *Phytopathology*. 95: 178-185.
- Yogev, A., Raviv, M., Kritzman, G., Hadar, Y., Cohen, R., Kirshner, B., et al. (2009). Suppression of bacterial canker of tomato by composts. *Crop Protection*. 28: 97-103.
- Zheng, W., Yates, S. R., Papiernik, S. K., and Nunez, J. (2006). Conversion of metam sodium and emission of fumigant from soil columns. *Atmospheric Environment*. 40: 7046-7056.

Zinati, G. M., Li, Y. C., and Bryan, H. H. (2001). Utilization of compost increases organic carbon and its humin, humic and fulvic acid fractions in calcareous soil. *Compost Science and Utilization. 9*: 156-162.

Zrybko, C. L., Fukuda, E. K., and Rosen, R. T. (1997). Determination of glucosinolates in domestic and wild mustard by high-performance liquid chromatography with confirmation by electrospray mass spectrometry and photodiode-array detection. *Journal of Chromatography*. 767: 43-52.

# 3. SURVIVAL OF V. DAHLIAE MICROSCLEROTIA IN THREE POTATO SOILS AMENDED WITH ORIENTAL MUSTARD TISSUE AND SEED MEAL

#### 3.1. Abstract

Addition of high-glucosinolate containing Brassicaceae materials are known to reduce Verticillium dahliae Kleb. Control has been attributed to different mechanisms in particular to the release of toxic isothiocyanates (ITCs), but specific soil properties could affect the concentration of ITCs accumulated in soil. However, the soil properties affecting the biocidal activity of fungitoxic compounds against the fungal-wilt pathogen, V. dahliae are poorly understood. Therefore, we investigated the effect of three soils on the accumulation of ITCs and toxicity to V. dahliae microsclerotia from Brassica juncea L. plant tissue (1 and 3% w/w) and seed-meal (0.25 and 0.5% w/w) as soil amendment in a microcosm experiment. The only ITC present in amended soil with tissue and seed meal amendment was 2-propenyl isothiocyanate (2-propenyl-ITC). The highest concentration of 2-propenyl-ITC was measured 1 hour after incorporation of 0.5% seedmeal. At 24 h, the concentration of 2-propenyl-ITC was markedly reduced in soil of pH higher than 6.5 compared to soils with lower pH. The germination of microsclerotia was mainly inhibited by 0.5 and 0.25% seed meal treatments at four-day measurement. However, the effect of concentration of 2-propenyl-ITC at 12 nM g<sup>-1</sup> seems to be fungistatic as germination of microsclerotia rebounded once the concentration of ITC dissipated. The results of this study suggest that the inhibition of germination of microsclerotia by oriental mustard plant tissue or seed meal is affected by soil with pH higher than 6.5, where concentration and residence time of 2-propenyl-ITC was lower

than 12 nM g<sup>-1</sup> soil and 1 day, respectively. In terms of practical field implementation, higher concentration and residence time of 2-propenyl-ITC may be needed to have a fungitoxic effect on V. dahliae microsclerotia.

## 3.2. Introduction

*Verticillium dahliae* Kleb. is a soil-borne pathogen of potato (*Solanum Tuberosum* L.) that is responsible for the Verticillium wilt disease (Rowe and Powelson 2002; Fradin and Thomma 2006). Verticillium wilt has developed slowly over many years in potato production areas of the Red River Valley in North America (Rowe et al. 1987). In Manitoba, since Verticillium wilt was first reported to have severe damage to potato in 1934 (Hoes and Zimmer 1968), many potato fields planted with cv Russet Burbank have been found to be infested with highly pathogenic *V. dahliae* isolates, which can produce disease severity of up to 90% (Uppal et al. 2007) and serious economic losses due to reduced yield and tuber quality (Johnson 1988; Shinners-Carnelley et al. 2003). *V. dahliae* forms microsclerotia, thick-walled-melanized and multicelled resting structures (Lopez-Escudero et al. 2007) which are the most important survival structure in soil for this pathogen. Microsclerotia can survive up to 14 years in field soil regardless of whether suitable host crops have been grown (Wilhelms 1955).

Management of *V. dahliae* is commonly achieved by using chemical fumigants such as methyl bromide, vapam and chloropicrin (Rowe and Powelson 2002; Triky-Dotan et al. 2007). However, concern for potential health and/or environmental damage as well as cost have led to a search for alternative strategies to manage Verticillium wilt of potato

(Davis et al. 1996). Consequently alternative methods to control soil-borne pathogens are required. One approach with potential to reduce V. dahliae damage to potato is the use of Brassicaceae green manure or seed meal amendments (Ochiai et al. 2007). Members of the order Brassicaceae have been shown to contain sulfur compounds known as glucosinolates that produce active allelochemicals against a variety of weeds and soilborne plant pathogens (Gimsing and Kirkegaard 2009). Glucosinolates are nitrogen and sulphur-rich organic anions, with specific side chains derived from amino acids, that distinguish one glucosinolate from another (Brown and Morra 1997; Mithen 2001b). Glucosinolates can be divide in three major groups; aromatic, aliphatic and indoyl (Mithen 2001b). All plants containing GSLs also contain the enzyme myriosinase, which is stored in separated compartments of cells. In the presence of water and after tissue disruption the myrosinase comes into contact with the glucosinolates to form a number of hydrolysis products (Mithen 2001a, 2001b). Of the possible hydrolysis products, the most related to soil-borne pathogen control are isothiocyanates (ITCs), oxazolidinethiones, ionic thiocyanate and organic cyanides (Morra and Kirkegaard 2002).

Reduction of soil-borne pathogens by Brassicaceae amendments is believed to be due to the release of ITCs, which are the most bioactive and toxic of the glucosinolate reaction products (Morra and Kirkegaard 2002). However, there may also be alternative mechanism of control which is not linked to ITCs production. Brassicaceae green manure and seed meals are also nitrogen rich materials, which means that ammonia and nitrous acid accumulation following incorporation may be another possible mechanism responsible for reducing soil pathogen levels (Gimsing and Kirkegaard 2009). Tenuta and Lazarovits (2002b) reported that the accumulation of ammonia and nitrous acid following degradation of nitrogenous amendments were fungitoxic to *V. dahliae* microsclerotia.

Pesticidal activity of the glucosinolate reaction products is short lived due to their short residence time from 20 to 60 hours in soils (Borek 1995). Control of a pathogen, is dependent upon the concentration of the reaction product released from the glucosinolate containing material. Gimsing and Kirkegaard (2006) suggest that pathogen suppression is achieved at ITC levels of 100 nM g<sup>-1</sup>. Accumulation of nitrogen products in soil determines the efficacy of an amendment in killing a pathogen. For example, accumulation of ammonia in soil amended with meat and bone meal become fungitoxic to *V. dahliae* microsclerotia at levels higher than 20 mM (Tenuta and Lazarovits 2002a, 2002b).

Soil properties themselves affect the concentration and residence time of ITCs, ammonia and nitrous acid, and thus, their effectiveness for killing pathogens. A number of soil factors including soil texture, pH, soil organic matter (SOM), nutrient concentration, moisture content and temperature influence degradation and volatilization of ITCs (Gimsing and Kirkegaard 2009). A lack of efficacy of Brassicaceae material killing soilpathogens is also associated with sorption of ITCs to clay and organic matter in soil (Brown and Morra 2005; Matthiessen and Shackleton 2005; Matthiessen and Kirkegaard 2006). Tenuta and Lazarovits (2004) also report accumulation of ammonia to occur in soil having low organic carbon content (<1.4%), high pH (9) and high sand content, whereas nitrous acid toxicity was promoted by soil acidity (pH<6.0) and rapid nitrification.

Although previous research has demonstrated the potential of Brassicaceae plants to reduce soil-borne pathogens in potato, the recommended application rates are often too high to be practical (> 20 tonne ha<sup>-1</sup> green manure dry weight) (Ochiai et al. 2007), and the effectiveness is often inconsistent, due to the high variability of concentration and residence time of glucosinolate reaction products among different soils (Kirkegaard and Sarwar 1998; Olivier et al. 1999). The objectives of this study were to evaluate the potential of mustard green manure and seed meal in Manitoba soils at rates lower than those recommended; and to indentify soil conditions affecting the concentration and residence time of fungitoxic compounds released from oriental mustard plant tissue and seed meal, and thus, effectiveness to reduce survival of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia.

#### 3.3. Materials and Methods

## 3.3.1. Plant Material for Amemendments

Oriental mustard (*Brassica juncea*) var. Cutlass and oriental mustard seed meal from Canadian oriental #1 were used as soil amendment because these materials have a high concentration of 2-propenyl glucosinolate (2-propenyl-GSL) around 1.8 mg g<sup>-1</sup> of dry plant tissue (Olivier et al. 1999). Oriental mustard plants for the amendments were grown in a growth chamber at the Soil Science Department at the University of Manitoba, during winter 2008/2009; plants were grown under a 16 h photoperiod with regulated temperature  $20\pm 2$  °C and humidity 50-60%. Plants were grown in a potting mix soil and watered daily. The leaves and stems were harvested by hand when plants were 42 days old and flowering. The vegetative plant material was then chopped into small pieces, homogenized using a coffee grinder, and applied immediately to the soil. The mustard seed meal was a free flowing powder milled from Canadian Oriental #1 seed (Mustard Capital Inc., Gravelbourg, SK). The meal had been partially deoiled and contained 0.85% Sinigrim, 25% protein, 8% moisture and 4-6% ash content. The seed meal was stored at 4 °C until use.

# 3.3.2. V. dahliae Inoculum Preparation

An isolate of *V. dahliae* (Vd-1396), initially obtained from The Plant Diagnostic Laboratory of Manitoba Agriculture, Food, and Rural Initiatives, was selected based on its high pathogenicity to potato (Uppal et al. 2007). The isolate was maintained as a culture on potato dextrose agar medium at 4 °C. Microsclerotia of *V. dahliae* (vd-1396) were produced in the Soil Ecology Laboratory on semisolid Czapek-Dox medium for 3-4 weeks in the dark at 24°C (Hawke and Lazarovits 1994). The culture was poured through mesh screens to obtain microsclerotia of 75 to 106 µm diameter. Microsclerotia mix with silica sand and the mixture added to nylon mesh bags (SAATILON® Monofilament Nylon) (Tenuta and Lazarovits 2002a).

#### 3.3.3. Microcosm Soil Preparation

The microcosm study was conducted using surface soils (0–15 cm) collected from three different sites near the towns of Carberry (Soil A), Portage La Prariere (Soil B) and Winkler (Soil C), Manitoba. Each soil had been cropped to spring wheat (*Triticum* 

*aestivum* L) prior to sample collection. Soil was collected at random from four different positions in each field site to provide replicate soil samples. Soil from each position was stored in a polyethylene bag at 4°C until use. A sub-sample was taken from each sample and analyzed for mobile nutrients, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, sodium bicarbonate extractable-P, Ca, pH<sub>water</sub>, organic matter, and soil particle size distribution at the Bodycote Laboratory (Winnipeg, MB.). Characteristics of the soils used are given in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1. Characteristics of the three soils used in the study (depth: 0–15 cm). Data shown are the average of four replications.

Parameter -	Sand	Silt	Clay	Taytura	NO <sub>3</sub> -N	Р	Са	nЦ	OM (%)
		(%)		Texture		$(mg kg^{-1})$		pn	OWI (70)
Soil A	43	37	19	Loam	37.8	13.8	2875	6	5.2
Soil B	86	9	5	Sand	21.8	40.3	2700	7.3	1.8
Soil C	48	35	16	Loam	27.8	17.8	5025	8	3.6

#### 3.3.4. Experimental Setup

Collected soil was air-dried for 12 hours to reduce soil moisture content, before being passed trough a 2 mm mesh screen. After 12 hours, moisture content of the soil was 19, 7 and 16 %, for Soil A, B and C, respectively. The gravimetric moisture content of each soil at 60% container capacity was determined to be 25% in Soil A, 18% in Soil B and 26% in Soil C.

· · · · ·

Survival of microsclerotia of *V. dahliae* was studied using a laboratory microcosm experiment. Five treatments, consisting of two rates of oriental mustard plant tissue, 9 tonne ha<sup>-1</sup> dry weight (TISSUE 1.5%) and 18 tonne ha<sup>-1</sup> dry weight (TISSUE 3%), two different rates of oriental mustard seed meal 4.7 tonne ha<sup>-1</sup> (MEAL0.25%) and 9.3 tonne ha<sup>-1</sup> (MEAL0.5%), and one nonamended treatment, as a control (Control), were added to

each soil with four replications per treatment. Twenty g of treatment soil was placed into a 50 mL conical tube (25 by 150 mm) (VWR International) and immediately after each addition, tubes were covered with a polyethylene cap (VWR International) that allowed for exchange of air. Sufficient tubes were prepared for each treatment to allow destruction sampling at 1, 6, 12 hours and 1,7,14, 21, 28, 42 days.

#### 3.3.5. V. dahliae Microsclerotia Analysis

Reduction of microsclerotia germination was determined using microsclerotia in a silica sand mixture in nylon mesh bags (SAATILON® MONOFILAMENT NYLON) (Tenuta and Lazarovits 2002b) buried into soil. The mesh bags were placed into the tubes, previously prepared with soil amendment treatments. A mesh bag in each tube was placed in centre of height of the soil in the tube (two cm from the surface). Three aliquots of deionized water were added to bring the moisture content of each soil to 60% of soil container capacity. Microcosms were watered regularly with deionized water during the experimental period to replace lost by evaporation.

A group of four mesh bags were analyzed for germination of microsclerotia at the beginning of the experiment to represent initial germination of microsclerotia (T0). The bags of microsclerotia were retrieved from tubes after 1, 7, 14, 21, 28 and 42 days. Mesh bags were dried at room temperature for 12 h in the dark, and the contents spread onto a pectate-tergitol-agar plate with an Andersen cascade impactor (Andersen Instruments Inc., Smyrna, GA). The agar plates were incubated for 5-7 days in the dark at 24°C and survival of microsclerotia was determined as the percentage of microsclerotia that germinated to produce colonies (Tenuta and Lazarovits 2002b). Plates containing fungal

colonies were scanned systematically at 20X magnification until one hundred microsclerotia had been examined and scored for the formation of colonies.

## 3.3.6. Soil Chemical Analysis

## 3.3.6.1. Soil ITC Analysis

#### 3.3.6.1.1. Soil Extraction

Soil (5 g) was obtained from each tube after 1 h, 6 h, 12 h, 1 d and 4 d after incorporation for ITC analysis. Isothiocyanates were extracted by adding 5 mL cold 80% methanol to the sample in a polypropylene conical centrifuge tube (50 mL). The methanol was used to trap any volatile compound released from the mustard material (Angus et al. 1994). The mixture was agitated on a reciprocal shaker (Eberbach Corp., MI) at 150 excersions per minute at room temperature for 1 h. This procedure prevented hydrolysis of remaining glucosinolates that might occur during the extraction procedure (Morra and Kirkegaard 2002). The mixture was vortexed and centrifuged (10 min, 4000 x g). Then, a 2 mL aliquot of the clear methanol supernatant was removed and stored at -20 °C prior to analysis ITCs by HPLC (Zasada and Ferris 2004).

## 3.3.6.1.2. ITC Analysis

Analysis for ITC concentration of extracts was conducted using a Waters 2695 HPLC system (Waters Corporation, Milford, MA). The HPLC was equipped with an

autosampler and a Waters 996 photodiode array detector, and fitted with a 5  $\mu$ m LiChrospher 100 RP-18 guard column and a reverse-phase 5  $\mu$ m 250-4 LiChrospher 100 RP-18 analytical column. Results were processed using Millenium Software, version 3.2 (Waters Corporation). The column was eluted at a flow of 1 mL min<sup>-1</sup> with a gradient of A: HPLC grade methanol and B: H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> acidified water. The gradient used to carry the analysis was as follows: (time [min]/A [%]/B [%]) = 001/0/100, 8/7/93, 12/15/85, 30/55/40, 35/92/8, 40/92/8, 45/1.5/98.5, 52/0/100. Sample (20 mL) was introduced to the HPLC and absorbance of ITC determined from 200 to 400 nm. A calibration curve was constructed using 2-propenil-ITC, methyl-ITC, 2-phenethyl-ITC and benzyl-ITC as external standards (Sigma). Identification of ITCs was determined by matching the elution time of standards and peaks from samples (nM g<sup>-1</sup> soil ).

### 3.3.6.2. Ammonia, Nitrous Acid and pH Determinations

Ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>), nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>), nitrite (NO<sub>2</sub>), and pH were analyzed at time zero and 1, 7, 14, 28 and 42 days of incubation. Soil in each tube was homogenized by mixing the contents with a 15 cm long flat-spoon spatula. A 6 g sample was added to 30 mL cold distilled water (4°C) placed in a conical polypropylene centrifuge tube (50 mL). The tube was capped and the slurry mechanically disrupted with an Eberbach reciprocal shaker for one hour at 150 excersions per minute at 4°C. Then, the tubes were centrifuged for 10 min at 12,500 x g at 4°C, to set the particulates. Clear supernatant (18 mL) was transferred to a labeled scintillation vial. The cleared solution was stored at -20°C if not analyzed within a week after extraction. Nitrite analysis was done within 48 hours of extraction to prevent loss. The pH of the bioassay solutions was determined using a pH

meter (Orion 720A, Thermo ATC probe, Orion, Montreal, QC). Nitrate was analyzed using a Technicon<sup>TM</sup> Autoanalyzer II System (Pulse Instruments, Saskatoon, SK) where it underwent cadmium reduction before being analyzed for nitrite. Nitrite analysis of extracts was done similarly except for omitting the reduction step. The concentration of ammonium in extract solutions were determined by using the automated phenate method also using a Technicon<sup>TM</sup> Autoanalyzer II System. The concentrations of ammonium and nitrous acid are reported as millimolar (mM) in soil solution. Ammonia and nitrous acid concentrations were estimated using the Henderson-Hasselbalch equation and the pH, temperature, soil moisture content and ammonia or nitrite concentration (Tenuta and Lazarovits 2002b).

## 3.3.7. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using the Statistical Analysis Software (SAS Institute, Cary, NC; release 9.1 for Windows). Germination of microsclerotia was arcsine transformed and ITC power-transformed after the addition of a common coefficient of 1 in order to improve both the normality and homogeneity of the variances prior to analysis of variance. One-way ANOVA (PROC MIXED) was used to analyze each variable. Due to the high concentration of ITC immediately after treatment incorporation that caused trends on germination of microsclerotia, ANOVA was conducted for the first date of incubation for ITC and 4 d and 42 d incubation for germination of microsclerotia. Means were separated according to the Bonferronni's procedure when the F-test was significant (P < 0.05). Moreover, a relationship between concentration of ITC and germination of microsclerotia was determined using linear regression analysis (PROC REG).

#### 3.4. Results

## 3.4.1. Effect of Mustard Tissues and Seed Meal on Survival of Microsclerotia

The incorporation of oriental mustard tissue and seed meal reduced the germination of microsclerotia in all soils. In the Control treatment, the germination of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia was higher than 75% in all soil during the whole experiment. The effect of soil on germination of microsclerotia was not significant (P > 0.05) (Figure 3.1).

All amendment treatments reduced the germination of microsclerotia one and four days following incorporation, except for TISSUE1.5% at day four in Soil B (Figure 3.1). At day four, MEAL0.5% and MEAL0.25% consistently resulted in the larger decrease in germination of microsclerotia in all three soils compared to the Control (Figure 3.1., 3.2).

In contrast, MUST1.5% and MUST3% treatments reduced microsclerotia germination at day four only for Soil A. This initial reduction in germination of microsclerotia was followed by an increase at day seven for all amendment treatments and soils, except MEAL3% in Soil C (Figure 3.1).



**Figure 3.1.** Germination of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia in the three study soils amended with oriental mustard tissue at concentrations, 1.5% ( $\blacksquare$ ) and 3% ( $\triangle$ ) w w<sup>-1</sup>, and mustard seed meal at concentrations, 0.25% ( $\Box$ ) and 0.5% ( $\circ$ ) w w<sup>-1</sup>, and nonamended (\*). Data shown are the average of four replicates (+1 standard error). Means for the germination of microsclerotia 4 and 42 days after incorporation in each soil followed by the same letter are not significantly different (P < 0.05) according to the Bonferroni's multiple comparison test. An ANOVA conducted at the end of the experiment (42 days) showed a significant treatment amendment treatment effect on germination of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia in each soil (P < 0.0001). Germination of microsclerotia was significantly lower for the MEAL0.5% treatment compared to the Control treatment in all soils. The others amendment treatments resulted in microsclerotia germination values that were lower than the Control. However, in soil B, only the MEAL0.5% treatment reduced germination of microsclerotia compared to the Control treatment. In soil C, all amendment treatments reduced germination of microsclerotia compared to the Control treatment; the only difference among amendments was observed when germination in the MEAL0.5% treatment was lower than in the TISSUE1.5% treatment (P < 0.0001) (Figure 3.1).



**Figure 3.2.** Photographs showing growth of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia on Petri plates with pectate-tergitol-agar four days after incorporation of mustard plant tissue and seed meal in the three study soils. The germination of microsclerotia is shown as formation of black colonies.

#### 3.4.2. Glucosinolate Hydrolysis Products, Ammonia and Nitrous Acid in Soil

2-propenyl isothiocyanate (2-propenyl-ITC) was the only glucosinolate hydrolysis product detected in soils amended with oriental mustard tissue or seed meal. The statistical analysis showed a significant amendment treatment effect in all soils (P <0.0001), and significant differences between soils (P <0.001). The effect of the treatments was different among the soils, as evident by a treatment\*soil interaction (P <0.0001) (Figure 3.3).

The highest concentration of 2-propenyl-ITC was found after one hour of incorporation in all three soils. Beyond this time, the decline in 2-propenyl-ITC concentration was faster in Soils B and C with the compound being undetected at 24 and 12 hours after incorporation, respectively. The concentration of 2-propenyl-ITC for all amended treatments was also higher in Soil A than in Soil B and Soil C (Figure 3.3). In general, the concentration of 2-propenyl-ITC was twice higher in the seed meal treatment (MEAL0.5%) than in the tissue treatment (TISSUE3%). At one hour after incorporation in Soil A, the concentration of 2-propenyl-ITC decreased in the order: MEAL0.5% > MEAL0.25%, TISSUE3% and TISSUE1.5% > Control treatment (P < 0.0001). While in Soil B the concentration of 2-propenyl-ITC decline in order of MEAL0.5% > MEAL0.25% = TISSUE3% > TISSUE1.5% = Control (P < 0.0001). The concentration of 2-propenyl-ITC in Soil C, was MEAL0.5% > MEAL0.25% = TISSUE1.5%, MEAL0.25% > TISSUE3% = Control (P < 0.0001) (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3. 2-propenyl-isothiocyanate concentration in amendment and nonamended treatments. Data shown are the average of four replicates (+1 standard error). Means for the 2-propenyl isothiocyanate concentration in soil one hour after incorporation followed by the same letter are not significantly different (P < 0.05) according to the Bonferroni's multiple comparison test.

The association between 2-propenyl-ITC concentration in soil and germination of microsclerotia was assessed using linear regression analysis. The analysis indicated that accumulation of 2-propenyl-ITC one hour after incorporation of mustard materials was an effective predictor of germination of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia four days after incorporation of mustard amendments (Figure 3.4).



**Figure 3.4.** Linear regression of germination (%) of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia, at 4 days after incorporation, in relation to concentration of 2-propenyl isothiocyanate in soil (nM g<sup>-1</sup> soil) at one hour after incorporation.

Additions of mustard plant tissue or seed meal at rates evaluated did not result in biological significant concentrations of ammonia or nitrous acid in soil (Figure 3.5). Ammonia was present in Soil B amended with mustard plant tissue or seed meal during day 1 through day 42, whereas the highest concentration of nitrous acid was 0.002 mM at time T0 in Soil A.

Soil pH was not significantly affected by addition of mustard tissue or seed meal. However, at the end of the experiment, in Soil A, the pH dropped slightly from the start of the experiment until 42 day with MEAL0.5% and MEAL0.25% treatments from 5.4 to 4.7 and from 5.5 to 5.0, respectively. In Soils B and C, the pH was not affected by treatments. Soil pH for Soil B and C, ranged from 6 to7 and 7 to 8, respectively (Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5. Ammonia and nitrous acid concentration in soil solution and soil pH in the three study soils following addition of oriental mustard tissue and seed meal. Data shown are the average of four replicates (+1 standard error).

ションション ちょう

#### 3.5. Discussion

The results of this study confirm the ability of oriental mustard green manure and seed meal to kill potato pathogens in soil such as *V. dahliae*, and demonstrate the effectiveness of the materials to be dependent on the rate of application and soil. The effectiveness of glucosinolate reaction products in soil was dependent upon the concentration of ITC to inhibit germination of microsclerotia.

# 3.5.1. Mechanisms Associated with Inhibition of *V. dahliae* Microsclerotia Germination

Results from this study show that mustard plant tissue and seed meal when incorporated into soil have a moderate level of fungicidal activity against microsclerotia of *V. dahliae*. However, the level of inhibition of germination of microsclerotia from mustard plant tissue and seed meal was different between the materials, rates of application and the soils used. Based on the germination of microsclerotia at 42 days after incorporation, approximately 50% or more of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia was able to germinate in amended soil with 1.5 % and 3% plant tissue or seed meal at 0.25%. In contrast, the largest reduction in microsclerotia germination was achieved with incorporation of oriental mustard seed meal at 0.5%. Oriental mustard plants and seed meal have been effectively used to reduce soil-borne pathogens and diseases in potato (Larkin and Griffin 2007). Control of soil-borne pathogens by Brassicaceae materials is often attributed to reactive compounds release during the hydrolysis of glucosinolates containing in the material (Gamliel and Stapleton 1993; Angus et al. 1994; Morra and Kirkegaard 2002).

In vitro studies have confirmed that pure glucosinolate hydrolysis product can prevent growth of soil-borne fungal pathogens (Bending and Lincoln 1999).

Recently, it has been suggested that ammonia and nitrous acid accumulation following incorporation of Brassicaceae plants (green manure) and seed meals may be responsible for reducing soil pathogen levels (Gimsing and Kirkegaard 2009). The results of this study show that the incorporation rates of mustard plant tissue and seed meal used did not promote accumulation of ammonia and nitrous acid to concentrations expected to be fungitoxic. The accumulation of nitrous acid was less than 0.002 mM, which is very low compared with the 0.01 mM threshold for killing *V. dahliae* microsclerotia (Tenuta and Lazarovits 2002b). Similarly, Tenuta and Lazarovits (2002a) found that NH<sub>3</sub> concentration of 25 mM were necessary to kill microsclerotia in soil, much greater than the peak 0.2 mM found in this study.

The only ITC product detected by HPLC analysis in amended soil during the study was 2-propenyl-ITC. That finding is consistent with that of Potter et al. (1998) and Matthiessen and Shackleton (2005) who reported that above ground oriental mustard tissue produced almost entirely 2-propenyl ITC when incorporated to soil. 2-Propenyl-ITC is inhibitory to a number of different organisms, including weeds (Rice et al. 2006), nematodes (Zasada and Ferris 2004), and soil-borne pathogens (Brown and Morra 1997; Olivier et al. 1999; Smolinska et al. 2003). However, the threshold for significant pathogen reduction with ITC is approximately nM g<sup>-1</sup> soil (Gimsing and Kirkegaard 2006). In the current study, peak of 2-propenyl-ITC was much lower, 22.2 nM g<sup>-1</sup> soil but

these relatively low concentration appeared to reduce germination of microsclerotia in soil.

The germination of V. dahliae microsclerotia was effectively reduced with 2-propenyl-ITC concentrations of 22 nM g<sup>-1</sup> soil and less. However, some of this effect seems to be fungistatic because in some treatments and soils the germination returned when concentration of 2-propenyl-ITC dissipated. Concentrations of ITC less than 100 nM  $g^{-1}$ soil appear to be fungitoxic, but might not kill microsclerotia. However, these sublethal concentrations may weaken microsclerotia to facilitate lysis by antagonistic communities in the soil. Compounds released directly from the meal or during its decomposition can stimulate populations and activity of antagonistic microorganisms (Lockwood 1988; Njoroge et al. 2008) such as Streptomyces (Cohen et al. 2005), which are associated with suppression of V. dahliae (Krechel et al. 2002). However, this was likely not the case as germination of microsclerotia rebounded in many cases once ITC concentration dissipated. Rather a situation often observed for animal and human pathogens, referred as viable but not culturable (Sigstad et al. 2002), condition of microorganisms likely occurred. To survive in hostile environments some bacteria enter in this state of very low metabolic activity where bacterial cells do not form colonies or grow in medium. Bacteria then require a "resuscitation" treatment (ex. placement in milk protein solution) before being able to grow in medium (Keep et al. 2006). Microsclerotia during exposure to ITC in soil may be weakened sufficiently to not survive handling processing, and transfer to plate medium. However, the fact that the microsclerotia remain in soil for six or more

91

1. 1. 2. [\* days after the ITC dissipated allowed some of them to recover from the presumed stress of sublethal concentrations of ITCs prior to placement onto germination medium.

#### 3.5.2. Soil Properties Related to Mechanisms Reducing V. dahliae Microsclerotia.

The suppression effect of MEAL0.5 % treatment was consistently higher than for other treatments in this study. However, this amendment's inhibition of germination of microsclerotia 42 days after incorporation was higher in Soil A than Soil B and C. When mustard materials are incorporated into soil, the accumulation of ITC is dependent upon soil moisture content and other soil characteristics (Brown and Morra 2005). In Soil A, 2-propenyl-ITC concentration peaked at 1 h after incorporation, and then fell markedly within 1 day. This agrees with results of Brown et al. (1991) and Mattner et al. (2008) that showed ITC accumulation reached a maximum at 2 h after incorporation and then declined by more than 90% within 1 d. In this study, significant differences in concentration and residence time of 2-propeny-ITC were observed between soils, being lower for Soil B and C, than A. Soil B and C had higher pH than in Soil A (Table 3.1).

The concentration and residence time of ITCs in soil is dependent upon losses resulting from microbial degradation, volatilization, and sorption onto soil components (Matthiessen and Kirkegaard 2006; Gimsing and Kirkegaard 2009). Previous studies have showed that reduction of ITC concentration in soil is due to sorption to soil particles and organic matter in soil (Brown and Morra 2005; Mattner et al. 2008; Gimsing and Kirkegaard 2009). However, Matthiessen and Shackleton (2005) reported that aliphatic ITCs, such as 2-propenyl-ITC and methyl-ITC, are less sorb to organic matter and soil particles than aromatic ITC, which suggest that sorption of 2-propenyl-ITC was likely not the mechanism responsible for the reduced concentration of 2-propenyl-ITC in some soils of the current study. Gimsing et al. (2009) found that 2-propenyl-ITC is less sorb to soil organic matter than other types of ITCs such as benzyl-isothiocyanate, commonly found in Brassica napus, due to the low Kd (0.7 L kg<sup>-1</sup>) and Koc (41 L kg<sup>-1</sup>) values for 2propenyl-ITC, and because benzyl-isothiocyanate is more hydrophobic than 2-propenyl-ITC. High soil pH in particular are associated with a elevated biodegradation rates of methyl-ITC (Matthiessen and Kirkegaard 2006), which is the active degradation product of metam sodium (Vapam) and very similar to 2-propenyl-ITC release from oriental mustard. During the first four days of this study, the pH averaged 5.6, 6.8 and 7.6 in Soil A, B and C, respectively, for all amended treatments (Figure 3.5), suggesting that concentration and residence time of ITC are higher in soil with low pH than in soil with pH values between 6.8 and 7.6. This agrees with results of Smelt et al. (1989) that reported minimal biodegradation of ITC in soil with pH between 4.7 and 5.3, while rapid biodegradation was observed in soils with pH value of 7.3, where calcium is an important nutrient for bacteria that form spores or resistant resting stages such as Bacillus spp. and actinomycetes, which have been identified as responsible for biodegradation of aliphatic ITCs (Warton et al. 2001).

The results of this study suggest that the inhibition of germination of microsclerotia by oriental mustard plant tissue or seed meal is affected by soil conditions controlling biological degradation of 2-propenyl-ITC in soil. In terms of practical field implementation, mustard seed meal application seems to have more potential for reducing

germination of microsclerotia in soils with low pH. The greatest challenge in using mustard seed meal is to reduce the rate of application, which is the major obstacle for the adoption of this practice. Inhibition of pathogen with Brassicaceae seed meals applied at high rates equivalent to about 20 tonne ha<sup>-1</sup> in laboratory and greenhouse conditions are effective (Chung et al. 2002) but such rates in the field are not practical. High amendment rates equivalent to 24 tonne ha<sup>-1</sup> dry biomass have been also used in studies with Brassicaceae green manure. The cost of purchase as well as, shipping, application and incorporation of such large amounts of meal or green manure is economically unfeasible.

The goal of this study was to test lower rates (ex.  $\leq 10$  tonne ha<sup>-1</sup>) of application, indentify soil conditions affecting the accumulation of production of fungitoxic compounds, and ultimately, how to suggest cost-effective use of Brassicaceae amendments to control Verticillium wilt. Mustard seed meal seems to be a very expensive option, since application of the lowest rates (0.25%) could cost about \$8000USD ha<sup>-1</sup> (1.51 CAD kg<sup>-1</sup> Mustard Capital Inc.). In comparison, the cost of the soil fumigant metam sodium (Vapam), commonly used in potato systems to control soilborne plant pathogens, is approximately \$1400 USD ha<sup>-1</sup> (based on 2008 prices and rate of application of 700 L ha<sup>-1</sup>) (Wick, R. cited by Mahran et al. (2008)). However, it is also necessary to account for potential benefits such as reduction of weeds (Rice et al. 2006), insects and nematode populations (Brown and Morra 2005) and improved crop yields due increased plant-available nitrogen when using Brassicaceae materials. Nutrient content of mustard seed meal is high, particularly nitrogen being 5.6 to 6.8% N, phosphorus (1.2 to 1.4%) and potassium (1.1 to 1.5%) (Mazzola et al. 2007). The estimated nutrient value of
applications of 0.25% mustard seed meal is approximately \$700 USD ha<sup>-1</sup> (N=\$0.88, P=1.06 and K=\$0.54 USD kg<sup>-1</sup> (Oehmke et al. 2008). Developing cost-effective solutions for disease management is a significant challenge. Using seed meal to effectively control Verticillium wilt in potato still requires better understanding of the fate of the hydrolysis products in soil (Gimsing and Kirkegaard 2009). This study will help to predict the lowest effective application rate of oriental mustard seed meal that need to be used to reduce the survival of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia by determining the soil properties affecting the concentration and residence time of ITCs.

#### 3.6. Conclusions

apr. -

Application of oriental mustard seed meal at rates lower than 0.5% seems to be effective reducing germination of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia. However, the effect was partially fungitoxic as germination of some microsclerotia rebounded once the concentration of ITC dissipated.

Despite the toxicity of the mustard seed meal at 0.25 and 0.5% being inherently greater than mustard green manures, effectiveness of seed meal against germination of *V. dahliae* microsclerotia may be reduced in soils with pH higher than 6.5. This is important help to develop realistic application rates to achieve the desired disease control. The rates used in this study still remain economically impractical for potato producers. However, some advantages of using mustard seed meal such as reduction of weed and pests, other than soil-borne fungal pathogens, were not included in the economic analysis.

Ammonia accumulation may be another means by which oriental mustard green manure or seed meal amendment can suppress soil-borne plant pathogens (Gimsing and Kirkegaard 2009). However, low concentration and low application rates of mustard tissue and seed meal may be not sufficient to promote accumulation of ammonia or nitrous acid in soil.

#### 3.7. Literature Cited

- Angus, J. F., Gardner, P. A., Kirkegaard, J. A., and Desmarchelier, J. M. (1994). Biofumigation: isothiocyanates released from Brassica roots inhibit growth of the take-all fungus. *Plant and Soil. 162*: 107-112.
- Bending, G. D., and Lincoln, S. D. (1999). Characterization of volatile sulphurcontaining compounds produced during decomposition of *Brassica juncea* tissues in soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. 31: 695-703.
- Brown, J., and Morra, M. J. (2005) *Glucosinolate-containing Seed Meal as a Soil Amendment to Control Plant Pests 2000-2002.* Subcontract Report NREL/SR-510-35254 (pp. 99). University of Idaho, Moscow, ID.
- Brown, P. D., and Morra, M. J. (1997). Control of soil-borne plant pests using glucosinolate-containing plants. *Advances in Agronomy*. 61: 167-231.
- Brown, P. D., Morra, M. J., McCaffrey, J. P., Auld, J. P., and Williams, L. (1991). Allelochemicals produced during glucosinolate degradation in soil. *Journal Chemical Ecology*. 17: 2021-2034.
- Chung, W. C., Huang, J. W., Huang, H. C., and Jen, J. F. (2002). Effect of ground Brassica seed meal on control of *Rhizoctonia* damping-off of cabbage. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*. 24: 211-218.
- Cohen, M. F., Yamasaki, H., and Mazzola, M. (2005). *Brassica napus* seed meal soil amendment modifies microbial community structure, nitric oxide production and incidence of Rhizoctonia root rot. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. 37: 1215-1227.
- Davis, J. R., Huisman, O. C., Westermann, D. T., Hafez, S. L., Everson, D. O., Sorensen, L. H., et al. (1996). Effects of green manures on Verticillium wilt of potato. *Phytopathology*. 86: 444-453.

- Fradin, E. F., and Thomma, B. P. (2006). Physiology and molecular aspects of Verticillium wilt diseases caused by *V. dahliae* and *V. albo-atrum. Molecular Plant Pathology*. 7: 71-86.
- Gamliel, A., and Stapleton, J. J. (1993). Characterization of antifungal volatile compounds evolved from solarized soil amended with cabbage residues. *Phytopathology*. 83: 899-905.
- Gimsing, A. L., and Kirkegaard, J. A. (2006). Glucosinolate and isothiocyanate concentration in soil following incorporation of Brassica biofumigants. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. 38: 2255-2264.
- Gimsing, A. L., and Kirkegaard, J. A. (2009). Glucosinolates and biofumigation: fate of glucosinolates and their hydrolysis in soil. [Review]. *Phytochemistry Review*. 8: 299-310.
- Gimsing, A. L., Strobel, B. W., and Hansen, H. C. B. (2009). Degradation and sorption of 2-propenyl and benzyl isothiocyanate in soil. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 28: 1178-1184.
- Hawke, M. A., and Lazarovits, G. (1994). Production and manipulation of individual microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae* for use in studies of survival. *Phytopathology*. 84: 883-890.
- Hoes, J. A., and Zimmer, R. C. (1968). Disease of potato in Manitoba in 1968. Canadian Plant Disease Survey 48: 152-153.
- Johnson, K. B. (1988). Modeling the influences of plant infection rate and temperature on potato foliage and yield losses caused by *Verticillium dahliae*. *Phytopathology*. 78: 1198-1205.
- Keep, N. H., Ward, J. M., Robertson, G., Cohen-Gonsaud, M., and Henderson, B. (2006). Bacterial resuscitation factors: revival of viable but non-culturable bacteria. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*. 63: 2555-2559.
- Kirkegaard, J. A., and Sarwar, M. (1998). Biofumigation potential of Brassicas. I. Variation in glucosinolate profiles of diverse field-grown Brassicas. *Plant and Soil.* 201: 71-89.
- Krechel, A., Faupel, A., Hallmann, J., Ulrich, A., and Berg, G. (2002). Potatoassociated bacteria and their antagonistic potential towards plant-pathogenic fungi and the plant-parasitic nematode *Meloidogyne incognita* (Kofoid & White) Chitwood. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*. 48: 772-786.
- Larkin, R. P., and Griffin, T. S. (2007). Control of soilborne potato diseases using Brassica green manures. Crop Protection. 26: 1067-1077.

- Lockwood, J. L. (1988). Evolution of concepts associated with soilborne plant pathogens. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*. 26: 93-121.
- Lopez-Escudero, F. J., Mwanza, C., and Blanco-Lopez, M. A. (2007). Reduction of *Verticillium dahliae* microsclerotia viability in soil by dried plant residues. *Crop Protection.* 26: 127-133.
- Mahran, A., Conn, K. L., Tenuta, M., Lazarovits, G., and Daayf, F. (2008). Effectiveness of liquid hog manure and acidification to kill *Pratylenchus* spp. in soil. *Journal of Nematology*. 40: 266-275.
- Matthiessen, J. N., and Kirkegaard, J. A. (2006). Biofumigation and enhanced biodegradation: opportunity and challenge in soilborne pest and disease management. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*. 25: 235-265.
- Matthiessen, J. N., and Shackleton, M. (2005). Biofumigation: environmental impacts on the biological activity of diverse pure and plant-derived isothiocyanates. *Pest Management Science*. 61: 1043-1051.
- Mattner, S. W., Porter, I. J., Gounder, R. K., Shanks, A. L., Wren, D. J., and Allen,
  D. (2008). Factors that impact on the ability of biofumigants to suppress fungal pathogens and weeds of strawberry. *Crop Protection*. 27: 1165-1173.
- Mazzola, M., Brown, J., Izzo, A. D., and Cohen, M. F. (2007). Mechanism of action and efficacy of seed meal induced pathogen suppression differ in a Brassicaceae species and time dependent manner. *Phytopathology*. 97: 454-460.
- Mithen, R. F. (2001a). Glucosinolates biochemistry, genetics and biological activity. *Plant Growth Regulation. 34* 91-103.
- Mithen, R. F. (2001b). Glucosinolates and their degradation products. Advances in Botanical Research. 35: 213-232.
- Morra, M. J., and Kirkegaard, J. A. (2002). Isothiocyanate release from soilincorporated Brassica tissues. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 34: 1683-1690.
- Njoroge, S. M. C., Riley, M. B., and Keinath, A. P. (2008). Effect of incorporation of *Brassica* spp. residues on population densities of soilborne microorganisms and on damping-off and Fusarium wilt of watermelon. *Plant Disease*. 92: 287-294.
- Ochiai, N., Powelson, M. L., Dick, R. P., and Crowe, F. J. (2007). Effects of green manure type and amend rate on Verticillium wilt severity and yield of Russet Burbank potato. *Plant Disease*. 91: 400-406.
- Oehmke, J. F., Sparling, B., and Martin, L. (2008). Fertilizer Price Volatility, Risk, and Risk Management Strategies. Guelph, ON: George Morris Centre.

?

- Olivier, C., Vaughn, S. F., Mizubuti, E. S. G., and Loria, R. (1999). Variation in allyl isothiocyanate production within Brassica species and correlation with fungicidal activity. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*. 25: 2687-2701.
- Potter, M. J., Davies, K., and Rathjen, A. J. (1998). Suppressive impact of glucosinolates in *Brassica* vegetative tissue on root lesion nematode *Pratylenchus* neglectus. Journal of Chemical Ecology. 24: 67-80.
- Rice, A. R., Johnson-Maynard, J. L., Thill, D. C., and Morra, M. J. (2006). Vegetable crop emergence and weed control following amendment with different Brassicaceae seed meals. *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems*. 22: 204-212.
- Rowe, R. C., Davis, J. R., Powelson, M. L., and Rouse, D. I. (1987). Potato Early Dying: causal agents and management strategies. *Plant Disease*. 71: 482-489.
- Rowe, R. C., and Powelson, M. L. (2002). Potato Early Dying: management challenges in a changing production environment. *Plant Disease*. *86*: 1184-1193.
- Shinners-Carnelley, T., Bains, P., McLaren, D., Thomson, J., and Geisel, B. (2003). Disease management *Guide to Commercial Potato Production on the Canadian Prairies.* (pp. 3.6.11.-13.16.18.). The Western Potato Council, Winnipeg, Canada.
- Sigstad, E. E., Bejas, M. A., Amoroso, M. J., and Garcia, C. I. (2002). Effect of deforestation on soil microbial activity. A worm-composite can improve quality? A microcalorimetric analysis at 25 °C. *Thermochimica Acta*. 394: 171-178.
- Smelth, J. H., Crum, S. J. H., and Teunissen, W. H. (1989). Accelerated transformation of the fumigant methyl isothiocyanate in soil after repeated applications. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health Part B.* 24: 437-455.
- Smolinska, U., Morra, M. J., Knudsen, G. R., and James, R. L. (2003). Isothiocyanates produced by Brassicaceae species as inhibitors of *Fusarium* oxysporum. Plant Disease. 87: 407-412.
- Tenuta, M., and Lazarovits, G. (2002a). Identification of specific soil properties that affect the accumulation and toxicity of ammonia to *Verticillium dahliae*. *Canadian Journal Plant Pathology*. 24: 219-229.
- **Tenuta, M., and Lazarovits, G.** (2002b). Ammonia and nitrous acid from nitrogenous amendments kill the microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Phytopathology*. 92: 255-264.
- Tenuta, M., and Lazarovits, G. (2004). Soil properties associated with the variable effectiveness of meat and bone meal to kill microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Applied Soil Ecology*. 25: 219-236.

- Triky-Dotan, S., Austerweil, M., Steiner, B., Peretz-Alon, Y., Katan, J., and Gamiel,
  A. (2007). Generation and dissipation of methyl isothiocyanate in soils following metam sodium fumigation: impact on Verticillium control and potato yield. *Plant Disease*. 91: 497-503.
- Uppal, A. K., El Hadrami, A., Adam, L. R., Tenuta, M., and Daayf, F. (2007). Pathogenic variability of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates from potato fields in Manitoba and screening of bacteria for their biocontrol. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*. 29: 141-152.
- Warton, B., Matthiessen, J. N., and Roper, M. M. (2001). The soil organisms responsible for the enhanced biodegradation of metham sodium. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*. 34: 264-269.
- Wilhelms, S. (1955). Longevity of the Verticillium wilt fungus in the laboratory and field. *Phytopathology*. 45: 180-181.
- Zasada, I., and Ferris, H. (2004). Nematode suppression with brassicaceous amendments: application based upon glucosinolate profiles. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. 36: 1017-1024.

S.

#### 4. OVERALL SYNTHESIS

Controlling soil-borne pests and diseases is difficult to achieve within the constraints of farm economics. Soil is a heterogeneous medium of complex biological, chemical and physical interactions. Soil-borne pathogens are also microscopic with some producing very long-lived resting structures in soil making sampling, monitoring and management a challenge..

In Manitoba, growers of processing potato are interested in controlling Verticillium wilt as it is believed to be a reason for lower yields than in other potato growing regions (Dr. M. Tenuta, personal communication). In addition, the processing potato industry is requesting less pesticide use; for example the fast-food chain, McDonald's Corp., is reviewing pesticides used for the production of potato in its food products (REUTERS 2009). The results of my thesis have contributed to an improved understanding of Verticillium wilt and Potato Early Dying, potato yield, and soil quality management in Manitoba.

# 4.1. Reduction of Verticillium Population in Soil and Impact on Disease, Yield and Potato Quality

Propagule density of *V. dahliae* in soil declined with mustard seed meal and Vapam treatments, whereas the incidence of Verticillium wilt was reduced with mustard seed meal, and compost treatments, but not with Vapam. The soil fumigant, Vapam, was partially effective to lower propagule density as the density was reduced only at the

beginning of the potato season. In general, green manure treatments did not reduce propagule density of *V. dahliae* or the incidence of Verticillium wilt in potato.

The in-situ soil bioassay used in Experiment 1 presented in Chapter 2, showed that Vapam and mustard seed meal had an inhibitory effect on germination of V. dahliae microsclerotia one and three weeks after application. However, beyond that time several factors could stimulate or reduce the inhibitory effect. Effectiveness of Vapam and mustard green manure or seed meal controlling soil-borne pathogens depends on concentration and residence time of ITCs in soil. If the concentrations are lower than those needed to be fungitoxic, I hypothesize the microsclerotia remain viable but not culturable. However, once accumulation of ITC dissipated, microsclerotia recovered ability to grow in culture. Moreover, lower inhibition of germination of microsclerotia with Brassicaceae green manures was probably due to the lower concentration of ITC compared to soil amended with mustard seed meal (Chapter 3). Other fungitoxic compounds such as avenacin and saponins in oat tissue, and civine in pea (Pavlík et al. 2002; Wiggins and Kinkel 2005b), can produce lysis and inhibition of germination of soil-borne pathogens (Deacon and Mitchell 1985; Pavlík et al. 2002) though these are untested for V. dahlia microsclerotia.

Except for the mustard seed meal treatment, potato yield was lower in treatments with high Verticillium wilt incidence and high propagule density at the end of the potato season. The mustard seed meal treatment effectively reduced both propagule density and disease; however, yield was affected probably by other factors different to disease like

excessive available soil N (Lauer 1986; Neeteson and Zwetsloot 1989). In contrast, the application of compost during two consecutive years contributed effectively to maintain low number of propagules in soil during the potato season and reduced Verticillium wilt incidence, which ultimately could contributed to increased potato yield. The results of Experiment 1 presented in Chapter 2 of this thesis show that the reduction of Verticillium wilt incidence observed in plots treated with compost was not necessarily related to a reduction of propagule density of *V. dahliae*. Thus management of Verticillium wilt seems to be achievable by means other than reducing propagule density.

### 4.2. Mechanisms of Achieving Disease Reduction and Yield Increase without Decreasing Verticillium Propagule Density in Soil

The mechanisms of achieving disease reduction and yield increase without decreasing propagule density of *V*. dahliae in soil remains unclear (Ochiai et al. 2007). Several mechanisms have been proposed such as improved N and P availability (Davis et al. 1990), increased soil organic matter (Ochiai et al. 2007), soil suppressiveness (Hoitink and Fahy 1986), changes in soil physical properties (LaMondia et al. 1999) and possible systemic-acquired-resistance (LaMondia 2006). Recently, Ochiai (2008) proposed that addition of organic soil amendments may alter soil properties leading to the disruption in ability of *V. dahliae* to recognize a host, and propagules to germinate or grow (Ochiai et al. 2008).

The results of this thesis suggest that that improved soil quality due to increased availability of plant nutrients P and N, and soil organic matter contributed to reduced disease and improved potato yield. The total carbon applied with composted beef cattle manure was equivalent to an addition of 1.4% of soil organic matter. From a study examining Verticillium wilt incidence in 24 commercial potato fields and another examining intra-field variability of four commercial potato farms in Manitoba, an increase in soil organic matter of 1.4% was associated with a decrease in disease incidence of 20 to 50% (Briar et al. and Tenuta et al., in preparation). Based on the results of Experiment 1 presented in Chapter 2, the same composted cattle manure was applied in 2009 to soil at the CMCDC Winkler field station (40 t ha<sup>-1</sup>) with the result of having increased yield of cv Russet Burbank and cv Umatilla Russet (Cavers et al., unpublished). Soil organic matter serves as a source of carbon and energy for microorganisms (Weil and Magdoff 2004) resulting in a decline in density of soil-borne pathogen propagules due to parasitism, predation and competition for nutrients and carbon resources (Hoitink and Fahy 1986; Entry et al. 2005). Thus, several factors and mechanisms may have contributed to composted beef cattle manure having reduced disease and improved yields. The adoption of beneficial management practices for use of composts to control Verticillium wilt will depend upon identifying soil factors and mechanisms controlling the efficacy of the product.

#### 4.3. Economic Considerations.

The results of Experiment 1 presented in Chapter 2 indicates that composted beef cattle manure has the potential to substitute for the need to fumigate soil for the control of Verticillium wilt and supply important amounts of nutrients for crop production. Though potato yield increased, the economic benefit of this increase must be considered relative to cots. Overall, addition of compost in a potato production system creates direct costs of application and incorporation. Further, acquiring the product may have costs associate with purchase and transportation. Unlike the situation in the province of Alberta where cattle feed lots provide a plentiful source of manure for compost production, Manitoba has few cattle feed lots. Procuring composted cattle manure in Manitoba may thus be costly. A large amount of product at an affordable price has lead compost application to be a common practice for Alberta potato growers (Dr. F. Larney, personal communication). Other considerations are important when considering the economic benefit of compost addition such as improved yield of future crops, nutrient value of the product and possible improved water use efficacy.

Mustard seed meal has the potential to be an important part of Verticillium wilt management programs. However, more work is needed to determine if effective disease reduction and yield benefit can be obtained at rates lower than 5 t ha<sup>-1</sup>. The greatest challenge in using mustard seed meal is to reduce the rate of application, which is the major' economic obstacle for the adoption of this practice to control soil pathogens. Inhibition of pathogens with Brassicaceae seed meals applied at high rates equivalent to about 20 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in laboratory and greenhouse conditions are effective (Chung et al. 2002) but such rates in the field are not economically affordable. The importance of achieving lower rates lies in the high purchase cost (1.51 CAD kg<sup>-1</sup>) of the material as well as cost for shipping, application and incorporation of such a large rate of product. Additional benefits from the mustard seed meal such as N and S release may increase the advantage of using mustard seed meal in potato systems.

## 4.4. Role of Soil Properties in Determining Efficacy of Green Manures and Amendments

There is increasing evidence that the use of green manures and organic amendments can help farmers to maintain or improve crop health through enhancement of soil quality and through direct and indirect control of soil-borne plant pathogens (Davis et al. 1996; Rowe and Powelson 2002; Ochiai et al. 2008; Goicoechea 2009). However, soil properties play an important role in determining efficacy of green manures and organic amendments. Verticillium wilt reduction with pea, broccoli or sudan grass green manure has been associated with a number of soil chemical properties, including: decreased pH or calcium and increased potassium or magnesium (Ochiai et al. 2008).

Soil properties themselves affect the concentration and residence time of ITCs, ammonia and nitrous acid, and thus, effectiveness to kill pathogens. A number of soil factors including soil texture, pH, soil organic matter (SOM), nutrient level, moisture content and temperature influence degradation and volatilization of ITCs (Gimsing and Kirkegaard 2009). A lack of efficacy of Brassicaceae materials for killing soil-pathogens is associated with sorption of ITCs to clay and organic matter in soil (Brown and Morra 2005; Matthiessen and Shackleton 2005; Matthiessen and Kirkegaard 2006). Tenuta and Lazarovits (2004) also report accumulation of ammonia to occur in soil having low organic carbon content (<1.4%), high pH (9) and high sand content, whereas nitrous acid toxicity was promoted by soil acidity (pH<6.0) and rapid nitrification.

The results of this study suggest that considering soil properties is a means to select what amendment such as mustard seed meal or green manure could be used to reduce soilborne plant pathogen pressure. Efficacy of mustard green manure and seed meal to reduce Verticillium wilt was associated with the concentration of 2-propenyl-ITC in soil and the soil conditions affecting this concentration. In terms of practical field implementation, mustard seed meal application seems to have better potential for reducing germination of microsclerotia in soils with low pH, where the concentration of ITC in soil was potentially more toxic to the pathogen (Chapter 3).

#### 4.5. Recommendations

Farmers in Manitoba using green manures to control Verticillium wilt of potato need to re-evaluate their plan for disease management. Green manures were not effective in reducing propagule density or Verticillium wilt. Previous studies recommend that effective control with green manure need at least two or more consecutive years of green manure; however, longer cycles are an unviable approach for management due to the loss of income.

The soil fumigant Metam sodium (Vapam) was also ineffective for the control of Verticillium wilt. Application of Vapam in the fall prior to spring planting had a limited

effect on propagule density, which was reduced until potato planting, and but had no effect on Verticillium wilt incidence.

Reduction of Verticillium wilt with composted beef cattle manure was not necessarily achieved due to a reduction in propagule density of *V. dahliae*. In contrast, mustard seed meal treatment reduced the number of propagules in soil, and reduced disease incidence. The reduction of the number of propagules in soil with mustard seed meal provides evidence that toxic compounds in the amendment, or generated following incorporation were involved. However, it is still unclear what mechanisms are involved in the reduction.

The effectiveness of an organic amendment in reducing disease or increasing potato yield is dependent upon properties of the soil treated. Soil characteristics may play different roles on the mechanisms of achieving disease reduction and yield increase in other potato growing areas of Manitoba. Studies at other potato growing areas in Manitoba will contribute to understand how soil properties impact the ability of organic amendments like compost, to achieve disease control and what mechanisms are responsible for the reduction.

It is still unknown at what rates of compost addition or how often is best to reduce disease. Studies with compost at different rates and sites will contribute to know the mode of action, and ultimately, improve the effectiveness of compost to reduce disease and increase potato yield. If those mechanisms can be determined, farmers could plan and refine the application of compost in terms of timing, rates and number of applications for best control.

In Ontario, hog manure have been recently used to kill soil-borne pathogens, particularly, the root lesion nematode *Pratylenchus* spp. (Mahran et al. 2008). Composting hog manure could be an alternative manure management practice to export P from municipalities in Manitoba having excess P. Although this practice may represent a more labour intensive and perhaps more expensive than conventional liquid manure handling, composting of liquid manure would have the benefits of controlling storage and spreading odours. If composted hog manure can control soil-borne plant pathogens it would provide incentive to hog producers to invest in dry manure handling systems and be a means of exporting P to P deficient areas in Manitoba.

#### 4.6. Literature Cited

- Brown, J., and Morra, M. J. (2005) *Glucosinolate-containing Seed Meal as a Soil Amendment to Control Plant Pests 2000-2002.* Subcontract Report NREL/SR-510-35254 (pp. 99). University of Idaho, Moscow, ID.
- Chung, W. C., Huang, J. W., Huang, H. C., and Jen, J. F. (2002). Effect of ground Brassica seed meal on control of *Rhizoctonia* damping-off of cabbage. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology.* 24: 211-218.
- Davis, J. R., Huisman, O. C., Westermann, D. T., Hafez, S. L., Everson, D. O., Sorensen, L. H., et al. (1996). Effects of green manures on Verticillium wilt of potato. *Phytopathology*. 86: 444-453.
- Davis, J. R., Sorensen, L. H., Stark, J. C., and Westermann, D. T. (1990). Fertility and management practices to control Verticillium wilt of the Russet Burbank potato. *American Journal of Potato Research*. 67: 55-65.
- Deacon, J. W., and Mitchell, R. T. (1985). Toxicity of oat roots, oat root extracts, and saponins to zoospores of *Pythium* spp. and other fungi. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*. 84: 479-487.

- Entry, J. A., Strausbaugh, C. A., and Sojka, R. E. (2005). Compost amendments decrease *Verticillium dahliae* on potato. *Compost Science and Utilization*. 13: 43-49.
- Gimsing, A. L., and Kirkegaard, J. A. (2009). Glucosinolates and biofumigation: fate of glucosinolates and their hydrolysis in soil. [Review]. *Phytochemistry Review*. 8: 299-310.
- Goicoechea, N. (2009). To what extent are soil amendments useful to control Verticillium wilt. *Pest Management Science*. 65: 831-839.
- Hoitink, H. A. J., and Fahy, P. C. (1986). Basis for the control of soilborne plant pathogens with compost. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*. 24: 93-114.
- LaMondia, J. A. (2006). Management of lesion nematodes and Potato Early Dying with rotation crops. *Journal of Nematology*. 38: 442-446.
- LaMondia, J. A., Ferrandino, F. J., Elmer, W. H., and Stoner, K. A. (1999). Effect of compost amendment or straw mulch on Potato Early Dying disease. *Plant Disease*. 83: 361-366.
- Lauer, D. A. (1986). Russet Burbank yield response to sprinkler-applied nitrogen fertilizer. *American Potato Journal.* 63: 61-69.
- Mahran, A., Conn, K. L., Tenuta, M., Lazarovits, G., and Daayf, F. (2008). Effectiveness of liquid hog manure and acidification to kill *Pratylenchus* spp. in soil. *Journal of Nematology*. 40: 266-275.
- Matthiessen, J. N., and Kirkegaard, J. A. (2006). Biofumigation and enhanced biodegradation: opportunity and challenge in soilborne pest and disease management. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*. 25: 235-265.
- Matthiessen, J. N., and Shackleton, M. (2005). Biofumigation: environmental impacts on the biological activity of diverse pure and plant-derived isothiocyanates. *Pest Management Science*. 61: 1043-1051.
- Neeteson, J. J., and Zwetsloot, H. J. C. (1989). An analysis of the response of sugarbeet and potatoes to fertilizer nitrogen and soil mineral nitrogen. *Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science*. 37: 129-141.
- Ochiai, N., Powelson, M. L., Crowe, F. J., and Dick, R. P. (2008). Green manure effects on soil quality in relation to suppression of Verticillium wilt of potatoes. *Biology and Fertility of Soils.* 44: 1013-1023.
- Ochiai, N., Powelson, M. L., Dick, R. P., and Crowe, F. J. (2007). Effects of green manure type and amend rate on Verticillium wilt severity and yield of Russet Burbank potato. *Plant Disease*. 91: 400-406.

- Pavlík, M., Váňová, M., Laudová, V., and Harmatha, J. (2002). Fungitoxicity of natural heterocycle glucoside vicine obtained glucoside vicine obtained from Vicia faba L. against selected microscopic filamentous fungi. Rostlinná výroba. 48: 543-547.
- **REUTERS.** (2009). McDonald's to take steps to cut potato pesticides. Retrieved March 31, 2009, from <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/idUSTRE52U6AN20090331</u>
- Rowe, R. C., and Powelson, M. L. (2002). Potato Early Dying: management challenges in a changing production environment. *Plant Disease*. *86*: 1184-1193.
- Tenuta, M., and Lazarovits, G. (2004). Soil properties associated with the variable effectiveness of meat and bone meal to kill microsclerotia of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Applied Soil Ecology*. 25: 219-236.
- Weil, R. R., and Magdoff, F. (2004). Significance of soil organic matter to soil quality and health. In F. Magdoff & R. R. Weil (Eds.), *Soil Organic Matter in Sustainable Agriculture* (pp. 1-43). CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Wiggins, B. E., and Kinkel, L. L. (2005b). Green manure and crop sequences influence potato diseases and pathogen inhibitory activity of indigenous Streptomycetes. *Phytopathology*. 95: 178-185.

### 5. APPENDICES

Appendix I. Experiment 1. Field experiments.



Figure 5.1. Experiment 1. Plot and treatment layout at the Carberry site.





Appendix II. Verticillium wilt severity in potato.



**Figure 5.3.** Rating scale to evaluate the severity of vascular discoloration of potato stems caused by *Verticillium dahliae*. 0, no vascular discoloration; 1, trace to less than 9% of the stem cross-section showing a vascular discoloration; 2, 10–24% of the stem cross-section with a vascular discoloration; 3, 25–49% of the stem cross-section showing vascular discoloration; 4, 50–74% of the stem cross-section exhibiting vascular discoloration; and 5, 75–100% of the stem cross-section displaying vascular discoloration.

Treatment	Di	SPAD value <sup>w</sup>		
Teatment	Lower	Middle	Upper	BITTE Talue
Control <sup>x</sup>	$1.9 \pm 0.3^{y}$	$0.7 \pm 0.1$	0.1 ±0.1	40 ±0.5
COM	$2.4 \pm 0.3$	$1.3 \pm 0.2$	$0.3 \pm 0.1$	$37 \pm 0.7$
MUSTmeal	$2.8 \pm 0.2$	$1.8\pm0.5$	$0.5 \pm 0.2$	$42 \pm 0.7$
VAP	$2.2 \pm 0.2$	$0.7 \pm 0.4$	$0.2 \pm 0.2$	$37 \pm 1.3$
O/PEA	$2.0 \pm 0.2$	$0.9 \pm 0.3$	$0.3 \pm 0.1$	$40 \pm 0.2$
CMV	$2.0 \pm 0.3$	1.3 ±0.3	$0.3 \pm 0.0$	$40 \pm 1.5$
SS2	$2.4 \pm 0.4$	$1.3 \pm 0.2$	$0.1 \pm 0.1$	$37 \pm 2.7$
SS1	$1.9 \pm 0.2$	$1.2 \pm 0.4$	$0.5 \pm 0.2$	$39 \pm 0.4$
RYE	$2.7 \pm 0.3$	1.3 ±0.3	$0.3 \pm 0.1$	$37 \pm 1.5$
MUSTor	$2.2 \pm 0.4$	$1.3 \pm 0.5$	$0.4\pm0.2$	$38 \pm 1.9$
MUSTwh	$2.4 \pm 0.3$	1.1 ±0.2	$0.3 \pm 0.2$	$39 \pm 0.4$
ALF	$2.0 \pm 0.2$	$1.5\pm0.5$	$0.8 \pm 0.2$	39 ±0.6
$P > F^{z}$	NS	NS	NS	NS

Table 5.1. Experiment 1. Effect of wheat, green manure, organic amendments and Vapam treatments on disease severity of Verticillium Wilt and chlorophyll content of potato leaves (SPAD value), August 2008.

<sup>v</sup> Percentage of vascular tissue discoloured based on a scale of 0 to 5. (0= no discoloration, 1=1 to 10%, 2=11 to 30%, 3=31 to 50%, 4=51 to 75%, and 5=76 to -100% discoloration).

<sup>w</sup> SPAD value. Chlorophyll meter values taken with the Minolta SPAD-502.

<sup>x</sup> Control= wheat-control, COM= compost, MUST<sub>meal</sub>= mustard seed meal, VAP= Vapam, O/PEA= oat/peas mix, CMV= Canada milk vetch, SS2= 2-year sorghum-sudangrass, SS1= 1-years sorghum-sudangrass, RYE= fall rye, MUSTor= Oriental mustard, MUSTwh= white mustard, and ALF= alfalfa.

<sup>y</sup> Value are means  $\pm 1$  standard error.

<sup>2</sup> Treatment significant probability. NS, no significant (P > 0.05).

Appendix III. Experiment 1. Tuber quality of potato cv Russet Burbank.

Treatment	Green colour	Rot	Hollow heart	Specific gravity	Sugar end	Dark end	USDA Mean
		(%)		$(g ml^{-1})$	(%)		iry colour
Control <sup>x</sup>	$0 \pm 0^{\mathrm{X}}$	$0 \pm 0$	2 ± 1	$1.095 \pm 0.003$	$0 \pm 0$	6 ± 1	$0.04 \pm 0.03$
СОМ	$0\pm 0$	$0 \pm 0$	$0 \pm 0$	$1.088 \pm 0.003$	$0 \pm 0$	$0 \pm 0$	$0.05\pm0.04$
MUSTmeal	$0 \pm 0$	$0\pm 0$	$1 \pm 1$	$1.087 \pm 0.005$	$0 \pm 0$	$1 \pm 1$	$0.09 \pm 0.03$
VAP	$0\pm 0$	$0 \pm 0$	$1 \pm 1$	$1.092\pm0.001$	$0 \pm 0$	$12 \pm 6$	$0.07\pm0.02$
O/PEA	$1 \pm 1$	$0\pm 0$	$5 \pm 4$	$1.093\pm0.002$	$1 \pm 1$	$5 \pm 2$	$0.06\pm0.03$
CMV	$0\pm 0$	$1 \pm 1$	$5\pm 5$	$1.089\pm0.003$	$0 \pm 0$	$2 \pm 2$	$0.1 \pm 0.03$
SS2	$0\pm 0$	$0\pm 0$	$5 \pm 3$	$1.093\pm0.002$	$1 \pm 1$	$18 \pm 8$	$0.06\pm0.03$
SS1	$0\pm 0$	$0 \pm 0$	$5 \pm 4$	$1.096 \pm 0.002$	$0 \pm 0$	$12 \pm 4$	$0.05\pm0.02$
RYE	$1 \pm 1$	$0\pm 0$	$2 \pm 1$	$1.092\pm0.001$	$0 \pm 0$	$9 \pm 4$	$0.04\pm0.02$
MUSTor	$0\pm 0$	$0\pm 0$	$3 \pm 2$	$1.092 \pm 0.005$	$1 \pm 1$	$12 \pm 8$	$0.03\pm0.02$
MUSTwh	$0\pm 0$	$0\pm 0$	$5 \pm 4$	$1.093 \pm 0.001$	$0 \pm 0$	$8 \pm 2$	$0.05\pm0.02$
ALF	$0 \pm 0$	$0 \pm 0$	$0 \pm 0$	$1.091\pm0.005$	$0 \pm 0$	4 ± 3	$0.02 \pm 0.01$
$P > F^{y}$	NS <sup>z</sup>	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

Table 5.2. Experiment 1. Effect of wheat, green manure, organic amendment and Vapam applications on potato quality attributes at the Carberry site.

<sup>w</sup> Fry colour analysis based on the USDA French fry colour chart.

<sup>x</sup> Control= wheat-control, COM= compost, MUST<sub>meal</sub>= mustard seed meal, VAP= Vapam, O/PEA= oat/peas mix, CMV= Canada milk vetch, SS2= 2-year sorghum-sudangrass, SS1= 1-years sorghum-sudangrass, RYE= fall rye, MUSTor= Oriental mustard, MUSTwh= white mustard, and ALF= alfalfa.

<sup>y</sup> Value are means  $\pm 1$  standard error.

Treatment significant probability. NS, no significant (P > 0.05).

Q q (a

 $\sum_{i=1}^{n} |f_i| = 1$